

## LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors

Heimburg, Katarina

2024

Document Version: Förlagets slutgiltiga version

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Heimburg, K. (2024). Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. [Doktorsavhandling (sammanläggning), Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

Creative Commons License: CC BY

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors

KATARINA HEIMBURG DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors

## Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors

Katarina Heimburg



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due to permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Belfragesalen, Biomedical Centre (BMC), Klinikgatan 32, Lund on May 24th, 2024, at 09:00 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Erik Rosendahl, Umeå University

> > Supervisor Professor Tobias Cronberg

*Co-supervisors* Gisela Lilja and Åsa B. Tornberg

		TION
Deparment of Clinical Sciences Lun	d,	
Division of Neurology	<b>Date of issue</b> 2024-05-24	
Author Katarina Heimburg	Sponsoring organizati	on
Title Aspects of physical function a	nd activity in out-of-hospital cardiac	arrest survivors
<ul> <li>Title Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors</li> <li>Abstract</li> <li>Aims: The overarching aim of the thesis was to explore aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) survivors and to explore risk factors associated with limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity. The specific aims per papers included in the thesis were: I) To describe physical function in survivors 6 months after OHCA, and compare it with a group of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) controls. explore variables potentially associated with self-reported limitations in physical function in OHCA survivors. II) To investigate whether OHCA survivors had lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to a non-cardiac an control group who had acute myocardial infarction (MI). To explore potential predictors of physical inactivity. To investigate the relationship between self-reported and objectively measured physical activity among OHCA-survivors. IV) To describe the level of physical activity 6 months after an OHCA and to explore potential risk factors a low level of physical activity. V) To investigate whether OHCA survivors had lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to a non-cardiac arrest control group who had MI, and to explore if symptoms of anxiety, depression, kinesiophobia and fatigue were associated with low levels of physical activity.</li> <li>Methods: I) A post-hoc analysis of a case-control cognitive sub-study of the international multicentre Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest (TIM) trial with a follow-up 6 months post cardia event. III) A cross-sectional sub-study of the international multicentre Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest (TIM) trial 7 months post cardiac event Results: I) Self-reported limitations in physical function were more common in OHCA survivors than in MI controls and w</li></ul>		ical function and activity in out-of-hospital th limitations in physical function and low esis were: <b>1)</b> To describe physical function in ation myocardial infarction (STEMI) controls. To physical function in OHCA survivors. <b>II)</b> To nysical activity compared to a non-cardiac arrest ential predictors of physical inactivity. To ured physical activity among OHCA-survivors. assessed physical activity among OHCA OHCA and to explore potential risk factors of rs had lower levels of self-reported physical d to explore if symptoms of anxiety, of physical activity. If the international multicentre Targeted ) trial with a follow-up 6 months post cardiac argeted hypothermia versus targeted t-hoc analysis of survivors in the main TTM2 of the TTM2 trial 7 months post cardiac event. mon in OHCA survivors than in MI controls and symptoms of anxiety and depression. red to the results of the objective assessments. activity and risk factors of low levels of physical ne quarter of the OHCA survivors and one fifth gnificant difference. Kinesiophobia (fear of ity. Is of physical activity were common following ential risk factors identified in the thesis, the
Classification system and/or index to	erms (if any)	
Supplementary bibliographical infor	mation	Language English
ISSN 1652-8220		<b>ISBN</b> 978-91-8021-560-2
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 84	Price
	Security classification	I
I, the undersigned, being the cop grant to all reference sources per dissertation.	byright owner of the abstract of mission to publish and dissemin	the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby hate the abstract of the above-mentioned

Signature

Date 2024-04-10

## Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors

Katarina Heimburg



Cover art by Katarina Jandér Back cover photo by Katarina Heimburg © Katarina Heimburg pp. 1-84

Paper 1 © 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier (licensed under <u>CC BY 4.0</u>) Paper 2 © 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier (licensed under <u>CC BY 4.0</u>) Paper 3 © 2023 The Authors. Published by Wiley (licensed under <u>CC BY 4.0</u>) Paper 4 © The Authors (Unpublished manuscript) Paper 5 © The Authors (Unpublished manuscript)

Division of Neurology Department of Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:66

ISBN 978-91-8021-560-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se "Those who think they have no time for exercise will sooner or later have to find time for illness."

Edward Stanley 1826-1893

## Table of Contents

List of publications10
Abbreviations II
Sammanfattning på svenska 12
Introduktion12
Metod14
Resultat16
Tillämpning av resultaten16
Introduction
Cardiac arrest18
Outcome after OHCA22
Screening and follow-up after OHCA23
Physical functioning26
Physical activity27
Rehabilitation after OHCA31
Assessments of physical function and activity
Knowledge gap in evidence
Aims of the thesis
General aim36
Study specific aims
Study specific hypotheses
Methods
Overview
The TTM trial paper I
The TTM2 trial40
Paper II, III and V40
Paper IV41

Outcome assessments4	2
Strategies used to prevent missing data4	9
Covid-194	9
Ethical considerations4	9
Author's contribution	0
Results	3
Paper I	3
Paper III	4
Paper V	5
Paper IV	7
Discussion	9
Results discussion	, 9
Generalizability	Í
Methodological considerations6	2
Methodological considerations paper I6	4
Methodological considerations paper III	4
Methodological considerations paper V	7
Methodological considerations paper IV	8
Conclusions	9
Clinical implications	9
Knowledge gaps	0
Future perspectives	I
Acknowledgments	2
References	4

## List of publications

The thesis is based on the following papers which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

- I. Heimburg K, Cronberg T, Tornberg ÅB, Ullén S, Friberg H, Nielsen N, Hassager C, Horn J, Kjærgaard J, Kuiper M, Rylander C, Wise MP, Lilja G. Self-reported limitations in physical function are common 6 months after outof-hospital cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation Plus*, 11, 2022, 100275.
- II. Heimburg K, Lilja G, Tornberg ÅB, Ullén S, Blennow Nordström E, Friberg H, Nielsen N, Gregersen Østergaard L, Grejs AM, Hill H, Keeble TR, Kirkegaard H, Mion M, Rylander C, Segerström M, Undén J, Wise MP, Cronberg T. Physical activity after cardiac arrest; protocol of a sub-study in the Targeted Hypothermia versus Targeted Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest trial (TTM2). *Resuscitation Plus*, 5, 2021, 100076.
- III. Heimburg K, Lilja G, Blennow Nordström E, Friberg H, Gregersen Østergaard L, Grejs AM, Keeble TR, Mion M, Nielsen N, Rylander C, Segerström M, Thomsen IK, Ullén S, Undén J, Wise MP, Cronberg T, Tornberg ÅB. Agreement between self-reported and objectively assessed physical activity among out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 2023:1-10.
- IV. Heimburg K, Blennow Nordström E, Dankiewicz J, Friberg H, Grejs AM, Haenggi M, Keeble TR, Kirkegaard H, Nielsen N, Rylander C, Tornberg ÅB, Ullén S, Wise MP, Cronberg T and Lilja G. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors with obesity, mobility problems and cognitive impairment report a low level of physical activity: Results from the TTM2 trial. Unpublished manuscript.
- V. Heimburg K, Blennow Nordström E, Friberg H, Gregersen Østergaard L, Grejs AM, Keeble TR, Kirkegaard H, Mion M, Nielsen N, Rylander C, Segerström M, Tornberg ÅB, Ullén S, Undén J, Wise MP, Cronberg T and Lilja G. Comparison between self-reported physical activity after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest and myocardial infarction: a TTM2 sub-study. Unpublished manuscript.

Paper I, II and III are published open access.

## Abbreviations

ACS	acute coronary syndrome
AHA	American Heart Association
BMI	body mass index
CA	cardiac arrest
CAD	coronary artery disease
CPR	cardiopulmonary resuscitation
CR	cardiac rehabilitation
EQ-5D-5L	EuroQol group health survey 5 dimensions 5 levels response version
FITT	frequency, intensity, time, type
HADS	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
HADS-A	HADS Anxiety subscale
HADS-D	HADS Depression subscale
HRQoL	health-related quality of life
ICU	intensive care unit
MET	metabolic equivalent of task
MFI-20	Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory 20 items
MI	myocardial infarction
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MPA	moderate intensity physical activity
mRS	modified Rankin Scale
Non-STEMI	non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction
OHCA	out-of-hospital cardiac arrest
PF-10	Physical Functioning 10 items
RPE	rating of perceived exertion
ROSC	return of spontaneous circulation
SDMT	Symbol Digit Modalities Test
SF-36	Short-Form Health Survey 36 items
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction
TSK Heart	Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia Heart
TTM	targeted temperature management
TTM trial	Targeted temperature management at 33 °C versus 36 °C after cardiac arrest trial
TTM2 trial	Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of- hospital cardiac arrest trial
VO <sub>2</sub> max	maximal oxygen consumption
VO <sub>2</sub> peak	peak oxygen consumption
VPA	vigorous intensity physical activity

## Sammanfattning på svenska

## Introduktion

Hjärtstopp inträffar när hjärtat plötsligt slutar att slå och är ett livshotande tillstånd. Vid hjärtstopp upphör hjärtat att pumpa blod och den drabbade personen blir efter några sekunder medvetslös till följd av syrebrist.<sup>1</sup> Kedjan som räddar liv är en serie åtgärder som påverkar överlevnaden vid ett plötsligt hjärtstopp (Figur 1). För att återställa en normal hjärtrytm krävs vanligtvis 1) upptäckt av hjärtstoppet och larm, 2) hjärt-lungräddning, 3) behandling med en hjärtstartare och 4) medicinsk vård.<sup>2</sup>



Figur 1: Kedjan som räddar liv.<sup>3</sup> © Elsevier, tryckt med tillstånd.

Endast en av tio som drabbas av plötsligt hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus överlever fram till utskrivning från sjukhus.<sup>4</sup> Hjärtstopp orsakas oftast av hjärtsjukdom.<sup>5-7</sup> Personer som har överlevt ett hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus kan uppleva olika svårigheter.<sup>8</sup>

Människan är byggd för rörelse och fysisk aktivitet. Fysisk aktivitet kan definieras som *"all kroppsrörelse som ökar energiförbrukningen utöver den energiförbrukning vi har i vila"*.<sup>9</sup> Fysisk aktivitet kan ske i hemmet, på arbetet, under transport eller som organiserad träning eller idrott på fritiden.<sup>10</sup> Dosen av fysisk aktivitet kan beskrivas med FITT-konceptet; Frekvens, Intensitet, Tid (duration) och Typ av aktivitet.<sup>11</sup> Fysisk

aktivitet kan minska risken för att drabbas av olika sjukdomar som t ex högt blodtryck, kranskärlssjukdom och stroke.<sup>10</sup> En vuxen person bör vara fysisk aktiv 150-300 minuter med måttlig intensitet eller 75-150 minuter med ansträngande intensitet varje vecka (Tabell 1).<sup>12</sup>

**Tabell 1:** Rekommenderad dos av fysisk aktivitet för hälsa och välmående enligt Världshälsoorganisationen (WHO)<sup>12</sup> och Yrkesföreningar för fysisk aktivitet.<sup>10</sup>

Tid och intensitet per vecka	
150–300 minuter fysisk aktivitet med måttlig intensitet	
eller	
75–150 minuter fysisk aktivitet med ansträngande intensitet	
eller	
en kombination av måttlig och ansträngande aktivitet	

Dosen av fysik aktivitet påverkar graden av effekt på hälsan (Figur 2). Man bör undvika långvarigt sittande. Hälsovinsten börjar vid lägre nivåer än den rekommenderade dosen.<sup>10, 12</sup>



Figur 2: Dos-responskurva mellan fysisk aktivitet och hälsovinst enligt Yrkesföreningar för fysisk aktivitet. Illustration: FYSS 2021 (YFA/Typoform AB).<sup>10</sup> © Tryckt med tillstånd. Fysisk aktivitet kan också vara behandling vid sjukdom. Rekommenderad dos av fysisk aktivitet vid t ex kranskärlssjukdom är 3-5 ggr per vecka med måttlig och/eller hög intensitet i minst 90 minuter per vecka (Tabell 2).<sup>10</sup>

Frekvens	Intensitet	Tid	Тур
3–5 ggr/vecka	Måttlig och hög kombinerat	≥ 90/ minuter/vecka	Kontinuerligt eller i intervaller

Tabell 2: Rekommenderad dos av fysisk aktivitet vid kranskärlssjukdom.<sup>10</sup>

Initialt bör träningen vara övervakad av sjukvårdspersonal. En person med kranskärlssjukdom behöver ofta stöd för att våga påbörja, öka och till sist vidmakthålla sin fysiska aktivitetsnivå och därmed sin fysiska kapacitet.<sup>10</sup>

#### Syftet med avhandlingen

Det övergripande syftet med denna avhandling var att utforska aspekter på fysisk funktion och aktivitet hos personer som har överlevt efter hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus. Det fanns en kunskapslucka om hjärtstoppsöverlevarnas begräsningar vad gällde fysisk funktion, hur fysiskt aktiva de var och om möjliga riskfaktorer för en nedsatt fysisk funktion och en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå.

## Metod

Avhandlingen består av 5 delarbeten, benämnda med de romerska siffrorna I till V. Aspekter på fysisk funktion och fysisk aktivitet hos personer som har överlevt ett hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus undersöktes samt riskfaktorer för en nedsatt fysisk funktion och en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå. Information har samlats in om hjärtstoppet, om sjukhusvistelsen och om variablerna vid uppföljningen 6–7 månader efter hjärtstoppet. Delarbetena är baserade på två stora internationella hjärtstoppsstudier:

Targeted temperature management at 33 °C versus 36 °C after cardiac arrest (TTM) trial

Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest (TTM2) trial

#### TTM studien

Delarbete I<sup>13</sup> är baserat på den kognitiv substudien<sup>14, 15</sup> som ingick i den större hjärtstoppsstudien TTM.<sup>16, 17</sup> TTM studien jämförde två temperaturinterventioner, 33°C mot 36°C, i det akuta skedet med syftet att undersöka om patients hjärna skyddades från skada. I substudien ingick 282 hjärtstoppsöverlevare och 119 matchade hjärtinfarktskontroller i 5 länder i Europa.<sup>13</sup> Samtliga besvarade ett frågeformulär med 10 frågor om självrapporterad fysisk funktion.<sup>18</sup>

#### TTM2 studien

Delarbete II<sup>19</sup> beskriver bakgrunden till delarbete III<sup>20</sup> och V. Delarbete III och V är baserade på en substudie med fokus på fysisk aktivitet inom den stora hjärtstoppstudien TTM2. Substudien genomfördes på 8 olika sjukhus i 3 länder i Europa.<sup>19</sup> 106 hjärtstoppsöverlevare inkluderades varav 49 ingick i jämförelsen i delarbete III. Överenstämmelsen mellan självskattad fysisk aktivitet och objektivt mätt fysisk aktivitet den senaste veckan 7 månader efter hjärtstoppet undersöktes.<sup>20</sup> I delarbete V blev de 106 hjärtstoppsöverlevarna matchade med 91 hjärtinfarktskontroller. Den fysiska aktivitetsnivån samt riskfaktorer för en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå 6–7 månader efter hjärtstoppet undersöktes.

Delarbete IV är baserat på den stora hjärtstoppstudien TTM2 som jämförde kylbehandling vid 33 grader °C med normal kroppstemperatur i det akuta skedet med syftet att undersöka om patients hjärna skyddades från skada.<sup>21, 22</sup> 807 hjärtstoppsöverlevare på 61 olika sjukhus i 14 länder besvarade frågorna om fysisk aktivitet 6 månader efter hjärtstoppet. Den fysiska aktivitetsnivån och möjliga riskfaktorer för en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå undersöktes.

#### Hjärtinfarktskontroller delarbete I och V

För att undersöka hur stor påverkan hjärtstoppet hade matchades överlevarna med personer som drabbats av en hjärtinfarkt utan hjärtstopp i delarbete I<sup>13</sup> och V. Båda grupperna antogs ha samma riskfaktorer före hjärthändelsen och båda grupperna hade upplevt en akut hjärthändelse.

## Resultat

Delarbete I visade att självskattade begränsningar i fysisk funktion var mer vanligt hos personerna som har överlevt ett hjärtstopp än hos hjärtinfarktskontrollerna. Högre ålder, kvinnligt kön, kognitiva svårigheter samt ångest- och depressionssymptom hade ett samband med fysiska begränsningar.<sup>13</sup> Delarbete III visade att överlevarna rapporterade fler fysiskt aktiva dagar jämfört med resultaten av den objektiva mätningen av fysisk aktivitet. I delarbete V fann vi endast små och inga signifikanta skillnader i fysisk aktivitetsnivå mellan hjärtstoppsöverlevarna och hjärtinfarktskontrollerna. Rörelserädsla och fatigue (trötthet) var riskfaktorer för en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå hos både grupperna. 20 I delarbete IV redovisas att en tredjedel av hjärtstoppsöverlevarna hade en låg självskattad fysisk aktivitetsnivå. Kraftig övervikt, förflyttningssvårigheter och kognitiva svårigheter var riskfaktorer för en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå.

## Tillämpning av resultaten

Här följer kliniska förslag baserade på avhandlingen:

- Bedöm den fysiska funktionen hos hjärtstoppsöverlevarna genom att använda frågeformuläret PF-10 och uppresningstestet TST.
- Bedöm den fysiska aktivitetsnivån hos hjärtstoppsöverlevarna genom att använda de två frågorna om fysisk aktivitet eller objektivt genom accelerometermätning.
- Var uppmärksam på att hjärtstoppsöverlevarna rapporterade fler fysiskt aktiva dagar jämfört med den objektiva mätningen av fysisk aktivitet.
- Fråga om och var uppmärksam på möjliga riskfaktorer för självskattade begränsningar i fysisk funktion; högre ålder, kvinnligt kön, kognitiva svårigheter, ångest- och depressionssymptom.
- Fråga om och var uppmärksam på möjliga riskfaktorer för en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå; kraftig övervikt, förflyttningssvårigheter, kognitiva svårigheter, rörelserädsla och fatigue.
- Erbjud hjärtstoppsöverlevarna med begränsningar i fysisk funktion hjälp med att förbättra sin fysiska funktion.

- Erbjud hjärtstoppsöverlevarna med låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå hjälp med att bli mer fysiskt aktiva.
- De identifierade riskfaktorerna, utom ålder och kön, går troligen att påverka och behandla med en ökad dos av fysisk aktivitet och/eller fysisk träning inom hjärtrehabilitering.

## Det övergripande och viktigaste budskapet i denna avhandling är att:

Delarbete I: Av de personer som har överlevt ett hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus rapporterade 38 % begränsningar i fysisk funktion och detta hade ett samband med högre ålder, kvinnligt kön, kognitiva besvär, ångest- och depressionssymptom.

Delarbete III: De överlevande rapporterade fler fysiskt aktiva dagar jämfört med resultaten av den objektiva mätningen av fysisk aktivitet.

Delarbete IV-V: Av de personer som har överlevt ett hjärtstopp utanför sjukhus rapporterade 25-34% en låg fysisk aktivitetsnivå och detta hade ett samband med kraftig övervikt, förflyttningsproblem, kognitiva svårigheter, rörelserädsla och fatigue.

## Introduction

### Cardiac arrest

Cardiac arrest (CA) is defined as "*cessation of cardiac mechanical activity as confirmed by the absence of signs of circulation*".<sup>1</sup> The CA causes a period of cerebral hypo perfusion resulting in varying degree of anoxic brain injury.<sup>23</sup> The CA may be reversible or lead to death. If the CA is occurring outside of a hospital setting it is defined as out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA).<sup>5</sup> The number of survivors of OHCA are increasing due to successful improvements in prehospital and acute medical care,<sup>5</sup> but are still few. Most CA survivors return home and live independently,<sup>8</sup> but a CA can cause cognitive, emotional and physical problems.<sup>6</sup>

In the thesis, all participants were out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) survivors.

#### Causes of cardiac arrest

The causes of CA can be categorised into cardiac and non-cardiac causes. Cardiac causes can be divided into ischemic (coronary artery disease), non-ischemic (e.g. genetic cardiomyopathies, congenital heart disease) and electrical disorders (e.g. inherited arrhythmic diseases).<sup>23</sup>

Paper I: OHCA of a presumed cardiac cause. Paper II-V: OHCA of a presumed cardiac or of an unknown cause. Coronary artery decease (CAD) is the predominant cause of CA.<sup>5, 7, 24</sup> CAD is a pathological process characterized by atherosclerotic plaque accumulation in the endothelium of coronary arteries.<sup>25</sup> Physical activity delays the development of atherosclerosis and reduces the incidence of CAD events.<sup>26</sup> Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) includes myocardial infarction (MI) and unstable angina.<sup>27</sup> Acute MI occurs when one of the arteries that supplies the heart muscle becomes blocked. Diagnosis is made by electrocardiography and presence or absence of serology markers (Table 3).<sup>27</sup>

Diagnosis	Abbreviation	Description
Acute coronary syndrome:	ACS	STEMI, non-STEMI and unstable angina
ST-elevation myocardial infarction	STEMI	Myocardial ischemia results in myocardial injury or necrosis
Non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction	Non-STEMI	Myocardial ischemia results in myocardial injury or necrosis
Unstable angina	UA	Chest discomfort or pain caused by insufficient blood flow and oxygen to the heart

 Table 3: Description of acute coronary syndrome.27

In paper I, 46 % of the OHCA survivors had STEMI as CA cause and the OHCA survivors were matched to STEMI controls.

In paper III and V, 58% of the OHCA survivors had MI as CA cause.

In paper V, the OHCA survivors were matched to MI controls.

In paper IV, 55% of the OHCA survivors had MI as CA cause.



The ACS spectrum ranges from asymptomatic to CA illustrated in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Spectrum of acute coronary syndrome from asymptomatic to cardiac arrest.<sup>27</sup>

#### Incidence, survival and prevention of OHCA

Worldwide, there are 4-5 million sudden cardiac deaths every year.<sup>23</sup> The annual incidence of OHCA in Europe is between 67 and 170 per 100 000 inhabitants.<sup>28</sup> In Europe, 8% of the patients suffering a CA are discharged from hospital alive.<sup>4</sup> In Sweden, just below 6000 OHCA were reported in 2022 and 12% survived until 30 days after the OHCA.<sup>29</sup> In Denmark, the survival rate was 13%.<sup>30</sup> In England, less than 8% survived to 30 days after an OHCA.<sup>31</sup> There are differences in survival rates between countries and regional differences within a country. The definition of OHCA may also differ.<sup>23</sup>

To reduce the number of OHCA, we need to focus on prevention of OHCA.<sup>23</sup> Most OHCA occur in the general population in individuals without known heart disease. First, we could screen for underlying cardiac diseases and risk factors which may cause CA. A low level of physical activity, hypertension, increased body mass index (BMI) and smoking are potential risk factors for both MI and CA.<sup>23</sup> According to the SWEDEHEART annual report 2023, 60% of the MI patients had hypertension, almost 30% were obese and 20% were smokers.<sup>32</sup> Second, we may try to prevent CA in those with established cardiac disease. A combination of risk markers and/or tests are suggested.<sup>23</sup>

#### Predictors of survival in the acute phase

Predictors of survival after OHCA can be categorized into patient factors, event factors, system factors and therapeutic factors. Patient factors include age, sex, and obesity.

Event related factors may include the location of the CA, the availability of cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), and the cause of the CA. System factors could be time to CPR, quality of CPR and time to defibrillation. Therapeutic factors could be pharmacotherapy, quality of in-hospital care and distance to invasive heart centre.<sup>5</sup>

#### The chain of survival

The chain of survival refers to a series of actions that are associated with the survival rate of CA. Originally, the chain consisted of 4 steps; 1) activation of emergency response, 2) CPR, 3) defibrillation, and 4) resuscitation (Figure 4).<sup>2</sup>



Figure 4: Chain of survival.<sup>3</sup> ©Elsevier, reprinted with permission.

The American Heart Association (AHA) added the  $5^{th}$  link post CA care in 2010 and the  $6^{th}$  link recovery in 2020 to the chain. The  $6^{th}$  link of recovery consists of CA survivors receiving support and rehabilitation (Figure 5).<sup>33</sup>



**Figure 5**: The updated chain of survival.<sup>33</sup> Abbreviations: CPR = cardiopulmonary resuscitation, CA = cardiac arrest.

In the thesis, focus is on the 6<sup>th</sup> link "Recovery" of the chain of survival.

#### Cardiac arrest and physical activity

The majority of persons suffering CA are performing light intensity physical activities. Vigorous intensity physical activity is a potential trigger of CA in a minority,<sup>34</sup> especially in untrained individuals with underlying heart disease.<sup>23</sup> In young individuals ( $\leq$ 40 years old), CA during physical activity is primarily due to genetic cardiomyopathies and congenital heart disease. In athletes >35 years of age, more than 80% of all CA deaths are due to atherosclerosis and CAD.<sup>35, 36</sup> Too vigorous physical activity can cause electrical disorders and CA.<sup>37</sup>

## Outcome after OHCA

Outcome after OHCA are commonly reported by Cerebral Performance Category<sup>38</sup> or modified Rankin Scale (mRS)<sup>39</sup>, often dichotomised into good or poor functional outcome categories.<sup>40</sup> Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is another common way to report outcome after OHCA. HRQoL includes domains related to physical, mental, emotional, and social functioning and focuses on the impact that health status has on quality of life.<sup>41</sup> HRQoL is generally good after OHCA,<sup>42</sup> although physical impairment, cognitive impairment, emotional problems and fatigue are common.<sup>8</sup> Physical function seems to be more affected compared to other health domains after OHCA,<sup>42</sup> but have received little attention.<sup>43, 44</sup>

There are many possible explanations for limitations in physical function and a low level of physical activity in OHCA survivors. The survivors may have limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity already before the CA. The lack of circulation during the CA may affect the heart and the exercise capacity.<sup>45</sup> OHCA survivors admitted to an intensive care unit (ICU) also have an increased risk of post intensive care syndrome (PICS). PICS includes new, or worsening, physical, cognitive and/or mental health problems.<sup>8, 46</sup>

Cognitive impairment and emotional problems may also affect the physical function and level of physical activity. Cognitive function includes the domains of perception, memory, learning, attention, decision making, and language abilities.<sup>47</sup> Most cognitive recovery occurs during the first 3 months with minor improvements up to 12 months after the CA.<sup>48, 49</sup> One quarter of the OHCA survivors reported anxiety symptoms and one fifth reported depression symptoms.<sup>50</sup>

The prevalence of kinesiophobia and the association with level of physical activity in OHCA survivors was unexplored. Kinesiophobia is defined by Kori *et al* as "*an excessive, irrational, and debilitating fear of movement and activity resulting from a feeling of vulnerability to painful injury or re-injury*".<sup>51</sup> Many OHCA survivors experience fatigue but the association with physical activity level have only been examined in small groups of OHCA survivors.<sup>44</sup> Fatigue is defined by Dittner *et al* as "*an extreme and persistent tiredness, weakness or exhaustion mental, physical or both*".<sup>52</sup>

## Screening and follow-up after OHCA

Through screening during follow-ups, problems can be identified and OHCA survivors can be provided with adequate information, support, and rehabilitation.<sup>8</sup> Guidelines and clinical pathways may differ, and some examples are listed below.

In 2015, the European Resuscitation Council and the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine collaborated to produce their first combined post-resuscitation care guidelines.<sup>53</sup> The guidelines were updated 2020 and rehabilitation and long-term outcome were added (Figure 6).<sup>43</sup>

- 1. Recommendation: Before hospital discharge, perform functional assessments of physical and non-physical impairment to identify early rehabilitation needs and refer to rehabilitation if necessary.
- 2. Suggestion: After hospital discharge within 3 months, screen for cognitive and emotional problems and fatigue. Provide information and support for the survivors and family members.<sup>43</sup>



Figure 6: The updated European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines including rehabilitation and long-term outcome.<sup>43</sup>

In Sweden, the guidelines recommend a follow-up within 1-3 months after the cardiac arrest<sup>54</sup>:

- 1. Investigate whether the survivor have been provided follow-up and information.
- 2. Screen for cognitive and physical impairment, emotional problems and fatigue.<sup>54</sup>

In Denmark, the guideline-based approach after cardiac arrest recommends<sup>30</sup>:

- 1. Establish the cause of CA to facilitate the right treatment.
- 2. Screen for cognitive impairment and symptoms of anxiety and depression.

In the UK, the British Cardiovascular Intervention Society published the following guidance around pre-discharge and follow-up care for OHCA survivors (Figure 7)<sup>55</sup>:

- 1. Prehospital discharge: assessment, information and support, cardiac rehabilitation.
- 2. Follow-up appointment after 1-3 months: multidisciplinary assessment.



Figure 7: <u>Time-points and key domains that need to be addressed after OHCA</u> suggested by British Cardiovascular Intervention Society.<sup>55</sup> Licensed under <u>CC BY-NC 4.0</u>.

In the Netherlands, the clinical pathway after resuscitation recommends (Figure 8)<sup>56</sup>:

Screen for cognitive impairment and emotional problems:

- 1. Cardiac rehabilitation for all survivors with cardiac cause of the CA.
- 2. Combined cardiac and neurological rehabilitation when needed.
- 3. Neurological rehabilitation when needed.



Figure 8: In Leiden in the Netherlands, the clinical pathway after resuscitation includes screening and rehabilitation.<sup>56, 57</sup>

#### OHCA survivors' perspective on screening and follow-up

A study by Mion *et al*<sup>58</sup> explored the OHCA survivors' perspective on screening and follow-up. More than half of the OHCA survivors reported that a follow-up meeting should be offered within the first month after hospital discharge. Fatigue, issues with memory/thinking, anxiety symptoms, physical limitations, and general physical deconditioning were frequently reported problems among the OHCA survivors.<sup>58</sup>

## Physical functioning

One definition of physical functioning is "*the capacity of an individual to carry out the physical activities of daily living*".<sup>59</sup> There are several terms referring to physical functioning presented in Table 4.<sup>60</sup>

Table 4: Different terms referring to physical functioning.60

Physical functioning:	
Exercise capacity	
Functional ability / capacity / status	
Health status	
Physical ability / capacity / disability / fitness / functional status / limitation / performance	

Physical functioning can be assessed by patient-reports and by performance-based measures.  $^{6\tau}$ 

Physical function was assessed by patient-reports in paper I.

Physical function was assessed by a performance-based measure in paper IV.

## Physical activity

Physical activity is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure."<sup>9</sup> Physical exercise is defined as "a subset of physical activity that is planned, structured, and repetitive and has as a final or an intermediate objective the improvement or maintenance of physical fitness."<sup>9</sup> Physical activity can be described by the FITT principle; Frequency, Intensity, Time (duration) and Type of activity (Table 5).<sup>11</sup>

Table 5: The FITT principle of physical activity.11

Factor	Description
Frequency of performing an activity	Usually expressed as the number of sessions per week
Intensity	Can be monitored and expressed as absolute and relative intensity
Time or duration of performing an activity	Describes duration of physical activities in minutes
Type of activity	For exampel walking, running and cycling

Absolute intensity refers to the energy required to perform an activity. MET stands for the metabolic equivalent of task. One MET is the amount of energy used while sitting quietly (3.5 ml of oxygen consumed/kg of body weight/minute). Physical activities may be rated using METs to indicate their intensity.<sup>62-64</sup>

Relative intensity refers to how hard an individual is working relative to his/her maximum capacity,<sup>65</sup> and could be measured by percentage of maximal heart rate or percentage of maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2</sub> max).<sup>10</sup> Rating of perceived exertion (RPE) on the Borg scale is a common way to assess physical relative intensity. 6 on the Borg RPE scale means perceiving no exertion at all and 20 means maximal exertion of effort.<sup>66</sup> In the thesis, moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity have been explored (Table 6).

	Borg RPE scale	Level of physical activity
6	No exertion at all	
7	Extremely light	
8		
9	Very light	
10		
11	Light	
12		MPA
13	Somewhat hard	MPA
14		VPA
15	Hard	VPA
16		VPA
17	Very hard	VPA
18		
19	Extremely hard	
20	Maximal exertion	

Table 6: The Borg RPE scale<sup>66</sup> and level of physical activity.<sup>10</sup>

Abbreviations: RPE = rating of perceived exertion, MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity.

Type of physical activity refers to the type of exercise performed and what you need to do to achieve the intensity e.g. running, walking, cycling and swimming. The type of activities can be divided into 4 domains; 1) activities in the household, 2) occupational, 3) transportation and 4) leisure time.<sup>9, 10, 12</sup>

#### Physical activity and health

Physical activity is essential to preserve health, to prevent diseases and for well-being.<sup>67</sup> Being regularly physically active reduces the risk of coronary heart disease and other diseases.<sup>68</sup> Moderate and vigorous intensity physical activities are associated with health and fitness benefits. The more physical activity, the more health and fitness benefits up to a certain level as shown in Figure 9. The dose is related to the intensity and the duration.



**Figure 9:** World Health Organization guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour and the dose response curve. © Reprinted with permission: [WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour]. [https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK566045/pdf/Bookshelf\_NBK566045.pdf]: World Health Organization; [2024]. Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>

#### History of physical activity recommendations

In the 1950s, the epidemiologist professor Morris *et al* compared the physical activity levels of London double-decker workers to postal workers. Morris *et al* found that bus conductors, who spent the day standing and walking, and postmen, who delivered mail on foot, experienced less than half the number of myocardial infarctions compared to bus drivers or post office workers who spent most of their workday sitting.<sup>69, 70</sup>

Early physical activity guidelines and recommendations from American Heart Association (AHA) were released 1972 and later 1975, 1992<sup>71</sup> and 1995.<sup>72, 73</sup> In the 1992, the AHA included physical inactivity as a major risk factor for CAD.<sup>71</sup>

#### Physical activity recommendations for Americans 2007

In 2007, the updated recommendations on physical activity and public health for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) and the AHA were released. The primary recommendation to promote and maintain health in healthy adults, aged 18-65 years, was moderate intensity physical activity for a minimum of 30 minutes at least 5 days each week and/or vigorous intensity physical activity for a minimum of 20 minutes a week on 3 days each week. Combinations of moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity could be performed to meet the recommendation (Table 7).<sup>74</sup> Individuals who wish to further improve their health and fitness may benefit by exceeding the minimum recommended amount of physical activity illustrated by the dose-response curve<sup>74</sup> (Figure 9).

**Table 7:** The physical activity recommendations for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association published in 2007.<sup>74</sup>

Frequency, Intensity, Time	Type, Examples
MPA for a minimum of 30 minutes at least 5 days each week	Equivalent to a brisk walk and noticeably accelerates the heart rate. Can be added up towards 30 minutes minimum by performing bouts each lasting 10 or more minutes.
or	
VPA for a minimum of 20 minutes a week on 3 days each week	Exemplified by jogging and causes rapid breathing and a substantial increase in heart rate.
or	
A combination of MPA and VPA	

Abbreviations: MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity.

The two questions on moderate and vigorous physical activity, used in paper II-V, were based on this recommendation.

In addition to the recommendation for physical activity, adults aged 18-64 were encourage to perform activities that maintain or increase muscle strength and endurance for at least 2 days a week. Adults  $\geq 65$  years were recommended to include flexibility and balance exercises.<sup>75</sup>

#### Physical activity recommendations for Americans 2018

In 2018, the physical activity guidelines advisory committee in the United States summarized the scientific evidence on physical activity and health. Physical activity reduces the risk of excessive weight gain, improve cognitive function and mental health. One of the news was that all bouts of moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity of any duration may be included in the daily accumulated total volume of physical activity.<sup>76</sup> and not only  $\geq$ 10 minutes bouts.

#### Physical activity recommendations globally

The current physical activity recommendations for primary prevention are based on the 2020 World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour.<sup>12</sup> For adults, the WHO recommends the same minimum dose as before. A novelty in the updated guidelines was the introduction of 150 to 300 minutes per week of physical activity (Table 8).<sup>12</sup> If you are physically active for more than 150 minutes up to 300 minutes, you could achieve more health benefits (Figure 9).

Intensity, Time per week			
150–300 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity			
or			
75–150 minutes of vigorous intensity physical activity			
or			
A combination of moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity			
Adults should limit the amount of time spent being sedentary.			

#### Physical activity recommendations for Swedes

In Sweden, the professional associations for physical activity have released guidelines and recommendations for physical activity in prevention and treatment of disease (FYSS) in 2003, 2008, 201777 and 2021<sup>10</sup>. Both FYSS and the Public Health Agency of Sweden recommend the same dose of physical activity as WHO for primary prevention.<sup>12</sup> FYSS also describes disease-specific guidelines for physical activity and physical exercise training.<sup>10</sup>

## Rehabilitation after OHCA

The WHO has defined rehabilitation as "a set of interventions designed to optimize functioning and reduce disability in individuals with health conditions in interaction with their environment".78 Early rehabilitation could start when the OHCA survivor is still in the ICU and includes mobilisation.<sup>6</sup> An OHCA survivor may be provided cardiac rehabilitation and/or neurological rehabilitation. Cardiac and neurological rehabilitation are often located within different groups, departments, or institutions.<sup>30</sup> Most rehabilitation teams specialised in neurological rehabilitation have limited knowledge of cardiac rehabilitation and vice versa.<sup>57</sup> OHCA survivors should be

screened for cognitive impairment and emotional problems after hospital discharge and before starting cardiac rehabilitation.<sup>30, 56, 57</sup>

Boyce *et al* have described an integration of cardiac and neurological rehabilitation in clinical practice for OHCA survivors including 3 different clinical pathways (Figure 8).<sup>56</sup> Those with cognitive impairment should be provided a combination of neurological and cardiac rehabilitation or start with only neurological rehabilitation.<sup>56</sup>, <sup>57</sup> Adjustments for the exercised-based cardiac rehabilitation could include creating small groups, using the same staff every time and play music with low volume or not play any music at all.<sup>56</sup>

In paper IV, 28% of the 807 OHCA survivors were provided cardiac rehabilitation and 18% neurological rehabilitation.

#### Cardiac rehabilitation phase 1-3

Most OHCA survivors have a cardiac cause of the CA and are eligible for cardiac rehabilitation. Cardiac rehabilitation includes physical exercise training to optimize the physical condition,<sup>79</sup> management of risk factors, lifestyle advice, education and psychological support.<sup>80</sup> Cardiac rehabilitation programmes are cost effective, decrease cardiovascular mortality, reduce hospital admission and improve HRQoL.<sup>81, 82</sup> Cardiac rehabilitation typically consists of 3 phases and should ideally begin during in-hospital stay (phase 1) and continue after hospital discharge (phase 2). Cardiac rehabilitation should be maintained for life (phase 3).<sup>83</sup> Cognitive screening and neurological rehabilitation are not a part of standardized cardiac rehabilitation but are recommended after OHCA.<sup>79</sup> In Europe, only half of eligible CAD patients were referred to cardiac rehabilitation and only a minority attended cardiac rehabilitation programme.<sup>80</sup>

#### Exercised-based cardiac rehabilitation during phase 2

The cardiac rehabilitation programme during phase 2 includes supervised physical exercise training. A training session should include warm-up and cool down and is described according to the FITT principle (Frequency, Intensity, Time, Type)<sup>11</sup> in Table 9.<sup>80, 84</sup> The supervision should include physical examination, monitoring of heart

rate, blood pressure and heart rhythm before, during and after the sessions of physical exercise training.<sup>80</sup>

Reference	Frequency	Intensity	Time
Europe 2010 <sup>85</sup>	3-4 days/week	50-70% of VO <sub>2</sub> max*	≥150 minutes/week
Europe 2020 <sup>80</sup>	≥3 days/week preferably 6-7 day/week	MPA-VPA	≥20-30 minutes/session
Sweden 2017 <sup>77</sup> and 2021 <sup>10</sup>	3-5 days/week	MPA-VPA	≥90 minutes/week

 Table 9: Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation recommendations during phase 2.

Abbreviations:  $VO_2 max = maximal oxygen consumption$ , MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity. \*Moderate intensity 40-59% of VO<sub>2</sub> max, vigorous intensity 60-89% of VO<sub>2</sub> max.<sup>10</sup>

#### Physical activity counselling during cardiac rehabilitation phase 3

During the cardiac rehabilitation phase 3, the recommendation was a minimum of 30-60 minutes/session of moderate intensity physical activity at least 3-4 days/week according to the guidelines from 2010.<sup>85</sup> The updated guidelines recommend 150 activity minutes a week distributed on 5 days a week<sup>80</sup> (Table 10).

Reference	Frequency	Intensity	Time
Europe 2010 <sup>85</sup>	3-4 days/week, preferable daily	MPA	30-60 minutes/session
Europe 2020 <sup>80</sup>	5 days/week	MPA	30 minutes/session
	or		
	5 days/week	VPA	15 minutes/session
	or		
	A combination of	MPA and VPA	

 Table 10: Physical activity recommendations within cardiac rehabilitation phase 3.

Abbreviations: MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity.

## Assessments of physical function and activity

Assessing physical function and physical activity in clinical practice and research can include both patient-reports and performance-based measures.
"Measurement is the first step that leads to control and eventually to improvement. If you can't measure something, you can't understand it. If you can't understand it, you can't control it. If you can't control it, you can't improve it."

H. James Harrington (1929-2002)

In paper I, patient-reports were used to assess physical function.

In paper III-V, patient-reports were used to assess physical activity.

In paper III, a performance-based measure was used to assess physical activity.

In paper IV, a performance-based measure was used to assess physical function.

#### Patient-reports

Physical activity questionnaires are cost-effective and easy to administer, but patientreports are subjective. Older adults are more likely to engage in light to moderate intensity physical activity which is the most difficult type of activity to assess by questionnaires.<sup>68</sup> Different questionnaires about physical activity are used in different studies and make it difficult to compare the results. Patient-reports create varying amounts of assessments error. One example is recall bias whereby individuals have difficulty in recalling past activities. Another example is response bias describing situations where participants do not answer questions truthfully for some reasons.<sup>67</sup>

#### Performance-based measures

Objective assessments from wearable sensors are sensitive in collecting physical activity data and are performance-based measures. The use of accelerometers to assess movement-based behavior is called accelerometery.<sup>67</sup> Administration of accelerometers is logistically more complex than questionnaires and more expensive.<sup>68</sup> An accelerometer assesses the body's movement acceleration in different directions. The higher the acceleration, the higher the intensity. By converting movement acceleration, the total movement activity of a person during a certain time period can be assessed.<sup>86</sup>, <sup>87</sup> Another performance-based measure is the Timed Stands Test (Figure 11).<sup>88</sup>

#### Agreement between patient-reports and performance-based measures

Studies that use both questionnaires (patient-reports) and accelerometers (performance-based measures) gain the most comprehensive information about physical activity.<sup>68</sup> Evaluating physical activity levels using both questionnaires and objective accelerometer assessments ("gold standard") is a way to investigate the validity and reliability of questionnaires.<sup>89</sup> Few questionnaires have been validated against a "gold standard" assessments e.g. accelerometer.<sup>67</sup> In a Swedish study, two thirds of the participants attained the physical activity recommendation according to self-reports and only one third attained the recommendation when the physical activity level were assessed by accelerometers.<sup>90</sup>

### Knowledge gap in evidence

Many OHCA survivors report physical problems, including rib fractures, muscle weakness and mobility problems. Almost half of the survivors reported limitations because of physical difficulties at 6 months and up to 40% described mobility problems and limitations in usual activities at 12 months.<sup>43</sup> Despite this knowledge in OHCA survivors, aspects of physical function and activity and the association with potential risk factors for limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity have received little attention.

My first goal was to write a review about aspects of physical function and activity in OHCA survivors. Unfortunately, there were too few papers published on this topic. To improve our knowledge, we must start by assessing and exploring physical function and activity in OHCA survivors. The Lancet Commission *to reduce the global burden of sudden cardiac death: a call for multidisciplinary action*<sup>23</sup> describes a knowledge gap about screening, support, and rehabilitation in OHCA survivors (Table 11).

s.
•

Knowledge gap:		
How and when to intervene?		
Duration of support?		
How the outcomes should be assessed?		

The focus of the thesis was aspects of physical function and activity following OHCA including how to assess physical function and activity.

# Aims of the thesis

## General aim

To explore aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors 6-7 months after the cardiac arrest.

### Study specific aims

- I. The primary aim was to describe physical function in survivors 6 months after OHCA and compare it with a group of STEMI controls. A second aim was to explore variables potentially associated with self-reported limitations in physical function in OHCA survivors, including sociodemographic characteristics (age, sex, and education), pre-event comorbidities (diabetes and hypertension), pre-hospital resuscitation variables (reflected by time to return of spontaneous circulation), hospital length of stay, and the 6 months outcomes of cognitive impairment and symptoms of anxiety and depression.
- II. The primary aim was to investigate whether OHCA survivors had lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to a non-CA control group who had acute MI. Additional aims were to explore potential predictors of physical inactivity (older age, female gender, problems with general physical function, global cognition, mental processing speed/attention, anxiety symptoms, depression symptoms, kinesiophobia and fatigue) and to investigate the relationship between self-reported and objectively measured physical activity among OHCA survivors.
- III. This study aimed to investigate the agreement between self-reported and objectively assessed physical activity among OHCA survivors.

- IV. The aims were to describe the level of physical activity 6 months after an OHCA and to explore potential risk factors of a low level of physical activity.
- V. The primary aim was to investigate whether OHCA survivors had lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to a non-cardiac arrest control group who had MI, and to explore if symptoms of anxiety, depression, kinesiophobia and fatigue were associated with low level of physical activity.

## Study specific hypotheses

The alternative hypotheses  $(H_{\alpha})$  described in the study protocol<sup>19</sup> were:

- 1. OHCA survivors will have lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to MI-controls.
- 2. Older age, female gender, problems with general physical function, global cognition and mental processing speed/attention, anxiety symptoms, depression symptoms, kinesiophobia and fatigue will be predictors of lower levels of self-reported physical activity amongst OHCA survivors.
- 3. Self-reported levels of physical activity among OHCA survivors will show at least moderate agreement with objectively measured levels of physical activity.

# Methods

### Overview

A brief overview of the methods used in the papers of the thesis can be found in Table 12.

Paper	1	Ш	Ш	IV	V
Design	Post-hoc analysis on a cross-sectional case control sub-study of an international multicentre trial	Study protocol	Cross-sectional sub-study of an international multicentre trial	Post-hoc analysis on a cross- sectional study of an international multicentre trial	Cross- sectional case control sub- study of an international multicentre trial
Study context, ClinicalTrials. gov identifier	The TTM trial cognitive sub- study, NCT 01946932	The TTM2 trial physical activity sub- study, NCT 03543332	The TTM2 trial physical activity sub- study, NCT 03543332	The TTM2 trial, NCT 02908308	The TTM2 trial physical activity sub- study, NCT 03543332
Participants	282 OHCA survivors, 119 STEMI controls	n/a	49 OHCA survivors	807 OHCA survivors	106 OHCA survivors, 91 MI controls
Time-point	6 months post cardiac event	6-7 months post cardiac event	7 months post OHCA	6 months post OHCA	7 months post cardiac event
Main instruments	PF-10	n/a	Two questions on physical activity, accelerometery	Two questions on physical activity	Two questions on physical activity
Main statistical analyses	Chi-square test, Mann- Whitney U-test, logistic regression, mean difference	n/a	Wilcoxon signed-rank test, Spearman's rho, Cohen's weighted kappa	Logistic regression	Mann- Whitney U- test, logistic regression

Table 12: An overview of the methods used in the papers of the thesis.

Abbreviations: TTM trial = Targeted temperature management at 33°C versus 36°C after cardiac arrest (TTM) trial, TTM2 = Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest trial, OHCA =out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, STEMI = ST-elevation myocardial infarction, MI = myocardial infarction, PF-10 = Physical Functioning 10.

## The TTM trial paper I

The Targeted temperature management (TTM) trial was a prospective international multicentre randomized clinical trial. The trial included patients at 36 hospitals in Europe and Australia. 950 comatose OHCA patients were randomized to targeted temperature management at either 33 °C or 36 °C at hospital admission. The TTM trial included participants from 2010 to 2013.<sup>16, 17</sup>

In the main TTM trial, 491 OHCA survivors were invited to a face-to-face follow-up 6 months after the CA, and 455 survivors consented. The trial found no differences in all-cause mortality, neurological function or HRQoL at 6 months between the two temperature groups.<sup>17, 91</sup>

Within the cognitive sub-study, 287 OHCA survivors at 20 of 36 hospitals underwent cognitive tests. The cognitive sub-study was performed in Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands, Italy and the United Kingdom. A cohort of participants with STEMI but no CA were recruited as a control group with an intended 2:1 ratio. The controls were matched for country, age, sex and time-point of hospitalization.<sup>14</sup> The cognitive tests showed no differences between the two temperature groups in the sub-study.<sup>15</sup> Therefore, OHCA survivors were considered as one group in Paper I.

Inclusion criteria were OHCA of a presumed cardiac cause, age  $\geq 18$  years, unconsciousness at hospital arrival, >20 minutes consecutive minutes of sustained return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC). Exclusion criteria were unwitnessed CA, asystole as the initial rhythm, >240 minutes between ROSC and screening, suspected or known stroke or intracranial haemorrhage, body temperature <30 °C, pregnancy, persistent cardiogenic chock despite medical interventions, and pre-existing neurological disability.<sup>16</sup>

Paper I was a post-hoc analysis on a cross-sectional case-control study investigating differences in self-reported physical function between OHCA survivors and matched MI controls. Descriptive statistics are presented in the paper. The Chi-square test and the Mann-Whitney U-test were used to detect differences between the OHCA survivors and the MI controls. Univariable and multivariable logistic regressions were calculated to investigate the associations between self-reported physical function and different variables. Mean differences were used to investigate if there were clinically relevant differences between various sub-groups of OHCA survivors (Table 12).

### The TTM2 trial

The Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2) trial was a prospective international multicentre randomized clinical trial that included patients at 61 hospitals in Europe, Australia and New Zealand. 1861 comatose OHCA patients were randomized to temperature control with targeted hypothermia at 33 °C or targeted normothermia and early treatment of fever (37.8 °C or higher). The TTM2 trial included participants from 2017 to 2020.<sup>21, 22</sup>

In the main TTM trial, 939 OHCA survivors were invited to a face-to-face follow-up 6 months after the CA and 836 survivors consented. An interpreter was used when participants were unable to speak the local language. There was no difference in mortality or functional outcome at 6 months after the OHCA between the two temperature groups.<sup>22, 92</sup> Therefore, the OHCA survivors were regarded as one group in paper III-V.

OHCA patients of a presumed cardiac cause or of an unknown cause to the CA age ≥18 years were included. Other inclusion criteria were unconsciousness at hospital arrival, 20 minutes of sustained ROSC, ≤180 minutes between ROSC and screening, eligibility for intensive care without restrictions. Exclusion criteria were unwitnessed CA, with asystole as the initial rhythm, intracranial haemorrhage, a body temperature <30 °C, pregnancy, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with home oxygen therapy prior to ROSC.<sup>21</sup>

## Paper II, III and V

Paper II is a study protocol describing the design and rationale of the TTM2 sub-study focusing on physical activity (Table 12). Paper III and V are sub-studies performed in conjunction with the main TTM2 trial. At the 6-month TTM2 trial follow-ups, survivors at 8 selected sites in Sweden, Denmark and the United Kingdom were invited to the sub-study, with a detailed focus on physical activity including an additional face-to-face visit. The sub-study was coordinated with another TTM2 sub-study investigating neuropsychological function.<sup>93, 94</sup> The participants could choose to participate in only one of the studies or both.

Additional exclusion criteria for the sub-study were >80 years of age, a Clinical Frailty Scale<sup>95</sup> score >7 before the CA, a pre-arrest dementia diagnosis, inability to speak the local language well enough to answer the questions and to complete the assessments without assistance from an interpreter, active drug abuse, and wheel-chair user.<sup>19</sup>

Paper III is a cross-sectional study investigating the agreement between two questions on self-reported physical activity and objectively assessed physical activity. Descriptive statistics are presented. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare the number of days. Spearman's rho correlation coefficients (r<sub>s</sub>) were calculated, and agreements were examined by Cohen's weighted kappa (*k*) (Table 12). To further examine the agreements between the two assessments of physical activity, crosstabulations were used.

Paper V is a cross-sectional case-control study investigating the difference between OHCA survivors and matched MI controls regarding physical activity level. The aim was to compare OHCA survivors, who were at risk of hypoxic brain injury, to MI controls who did not suffer CA (or the risk of brain injury) with a 1:1 ratio. Descriptive statistics are presented. Logistic regressions were used to identify risk factors of a low level of physical activity (Table 12).

### Paper IV

Paper IV is a post-hoc analysis and a cross-sectional study of the main TTM2 trial. All included OHCA survivors were invited to a follow-up 6 months after OHCA. The paper investigated the differences between OHCA survivors with low versus a moderate/high level of self-reported physical activity. Descriptive statistics are presented. Logistic regressions were used to identify risk factors associated with low levels of physical activity (Table 12).

## Outcome assessments

An overview of the outcomes, questionnaires and assessments used in paper I-V are found in Table 13.

Outcome	Questionnaire and assessment (abbrevitation)	Used in paper	Source for outcome
Physical functioning: self-care, mobility, movements	Physical Functioning 10 items (PF- 10)	I	Patient-reports
Physical activity	Two questions on physical activity	III, IV, V	Patient-reports
Cognitive function: memory	Rivermead Behavioral Memory Test (RBMT)	I	Performance- based
Cognitive function: executive function	Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB)	I	Performance- based
Cognitive function: mental processing speed/attention	Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT)	I, IV	Performance- based
Anxiety and depression symptoms	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)	I, V	Patient-reports
Objectively assessed physical activity	Accelerometer Actigraph GT3X- BT	III	Performance- based
Physical exercise training	Training log of physical exercise training	III	Patient-reports
Global cognitive function: memory, executive functioning, attention, language, visuospatial, orientation	Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)	III, IV	Performance- based
Kinesiophobia: perceived danger for the heart, avoidance of exercise, fear of injury, dysfunctional self	Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia heart (TSK heart)	III, V	Patient-reports
Functional outcome	modified Rankin Scale (mRS)	IV	Clincian- reported
General physical function: lower extremity strength	Timed Stands Test (TST)	IV	Performance- based
Health-related quality of life: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, anxiety/depression	EuroQol 5 dimensions 5 levels (EQ-5D-5L)	IV	Patient-reports
General, physical and mental fatigue, reduced activity, reduced motivation	Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20)	V	Patient-reports

Table 13: Overview of the outcomes, questionnaires and assessments used in the papers.

#### Self-reported physical functioning

The Short-Form Health Survey 36 items version 2.0 (SF-36v2<sup>\*</sup>) includes the domain Physical Functioning (PF) as a part of physical aspects of health. The SF-36 PF domain can be used on its own known as the Physical Functioning-10 items scale (PF-10).<sup>96</sup> PF-10 samples three main attributes of perceived limitations in physical function: selfcare, mobility and other physical activities, and movements such as lifting and bending.<sup>97</sup> The 10 items are rated on a hierarchical ordinal scale ranging from 1=not limited to 3=limited a lot.

The sum of the 10 items is transformed into a 2009 US general population norm-based T-score. A T-score of 50 represents the norm mean. A normal score is  $\pm 3$  T-scores of the mean at a group level, and  $\pm 5$  T-scores of the mean at an individual level.<sup>96</sup> A minimal important difference of 3 T-scores is recommended to differentiate between groups<sup>96</sup> (Table 13).

#### Two questions on physical activity

The first question addresses the frequency of moderate intensity physical activity totaling 30 minutes or more per day during the previous week. The second question addresses the frequency of vigorous intensity physical activity for at least 20 minutes per day during the previous week. The two questions were based on the physical activity recommendations to promote and maintain health by Haskell *et al.*<sup>74</sup> The range of answers is from 0 to 7 days for moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity respectively. The questions were followed by examples (Table 13, 14).

We categorized the level of physical activity to low, moderate or high level of physical activity based on the two questions. A low level of physical activity corresponded to a level below recommended for primary prevention.<sup>12, 98</sup> A moderate level attained the physical activity level of primary prevention.<sup>12</sup> To attain a high level of physical activity, the frequency should be a least 5 days a week and at least 3 days of vigorous intensity physical activity (Table 15).<sup>10</sup>

	Questions on physical activity	Examples given to the participants
Question 1: MPA	In the last week, how many days have you engaged in moderate physical activity for at least 30 minutes a day? (Could be performed in blocks that last for at least 10 minutes adding up to a total of 30 minutes or more) RPE 12-13 on the Borg scale <sup>66</sup>	MPA performed for at least 10 minutes that leads to a moderate level of effort and a noticeable acceleration of the heart rate. Examples of activities on this level include a brisk walk, heavy cleaning, washing windows, cleaning the car, carpentry, bicycling with light effort, golf, swimming leisurely or similar.
Question 2: VPA	In the last week, how many days have you engaged in vigorous (intense) intensity aerobic physical activities for at least 20 minutes (in one block)? RPE 14-17 on the Borg scale <sup>66</sup>	VPA is an activity that leads to a substantial increase in heart rate and causes rapid breathing. Examples of activities at this level include jogging, running, walking very brisk, shoveling/digging, bicycling with a moderate effort/fast, swimming moderate/hard, tennis or similar.

Table 14: The two questions on moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity.

Abbreviations: MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity.

**Table 15:** Categorization in three ordered groups based on number of days of self-reported moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity during the last week.

Physical activity level	Self-reported MPA and VPA in days last week
Low level of physical activity:	<5 days of MPA $\ge$ 30 minutes in total per day
frequency <3 days	or
	<3 days of VPA ≥20 minutes per day
Moderate level of physical activity:	≥ 5 days of MPA ≥30 minutes in total per day
frequency ≥3 days	or
	≥3 days VPA ≥20 minutes per day,
High level of physical activity:	≥2 days of MPA ≥30 minutes in total per day
frequency ≥5 days	and
	≥3 days VPA ≥20 minutes per day

Abbreviations: MPA = moderate intensity physical activity, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity.

#### Cognitive function

Three cognitive domains are commonly affected after CA; memory, executive function and processing speed/attention and were represented by the tests:

- 1. The Rivermead Behavioural Memory Test (RBMT) evaluates memory function needed in everyday life. The profile score has presented cut-off levels to grade the memory performance as normal, mild, moderate or severe impairment<sup>99</sup> (Table 13).
- 2. The Frontal Assessment Battery (FAB) is a screening test for executive impairment. Score ranges from 0 to 18 and lower scores indicate poorer performance<sup>100</sup> (Table 13).

3. Processing speed/attention was assessed with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT).<sup>101</sup> The total amount of correct answers within 90 seconds are calculated and transformed into age and education adjusted z-scores. Z-scores ≤1.5 SD below the mean was used to indicate impaired function<sup>102</sup> (Table 13).

A dichotomized score of no cognitive impairment versus cognitive impairment was based on a combination of the three performance-based instruments and used in the analysis: no/mild cognitive impairment versus moderate/severe cognitive impairment.<sup>103</sup>

#### Anxiety and depression symptoms

Information on emotional problems were collected by using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS). It consists of 14 questions, 7 related to anxiety symptoms (HADS-A), and 7 related to depression symptoms (HADS-D). Each item is scored from 0-3 and a total sum score for each subscale is calculated with a cut-off of >7 indicating clinically significant difficulties (Table 13).<sup>104</sup>

#### Accelerometer

The accelerometer ActiGraph GT<sub>3</sub>X-BT (ActiGraph, Pensacola, Florida, USA) was used to assess minutes in moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity per day (Table 13). The participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer for 7 consecutive days. The accelerometer was attached to the right hip with a rubber strap (Figure 10). For extraction and analysis of raw data collected by the ActiGraph, we used the ActiLife software version 6.16.3. A valid day was defined as a minimum of 10 hours wear time.<sup>105, 106</sup> The counts per minute cut-off values for vector magnitude (VM), chosen for this study, were 2690-6166 counts per minute for moderate and  $\geq 6167$  counts per minute for vigorous intensity physical activity by Sasaki *et al.*<sup>107</sup>



Figure 10: The accelerometer ActiGraph GT3X-BT.

#### Training log

To add information on activities that could not be assessed by the accelerometer during the week, the participants were asked to fill in a training log according to the FITT principle (Table 5, 13).<sup>11</sup>

#### Global cognitive screening

The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) was used and is recommended for cognitive screening after OHCA.<sup>53</sup> The MoCA contains 11 sub-tasks of 6 cognitive domains combined into a total maximum score of 30. We used the full version 7.1-7.3 and added 1 point for participants who had  $\leq 12$  years of formal education according to the manual.<sup>108</sup> A score  $\geq 26$  points was considered to be within the average range (Table 13).

#### Kinesiophobia

The Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia Heart (TSK Heart) was used to evaluate selfreported kinesiophobia. TSK Heart is a modified version of the original Tampa Scale<sup>109</sup> aimed to detect kinesiophobia in patients with coronary artery disease. The questionnaire includes 17 statements/questions added into a total score ranging from 17 to 68. Values >37 represent a high level of self-reported kinesiophobia (Table 13).<sup>110</sup>

#### Modified Rankin Scale

The clinician-reported modified Rankin Scale (mRS) assesses functional outcome.<sup>39</sup> The mRS-9Q, including 9 questions, and the mRS calculator (<u>modifiedrankin.com</u>) were used.<sup>111</sup> The scale includes 7 levels that range from no symptoms (o) to dead (6). (Table 13).

#### General physical function

The Timed Stands Test (TST) is an objective assessment of lower extremity strength. We used it as a rapid assessment of general physical function.<sup>88, 112</sup> The participant was asked to rise 10 times to straight upright position from sitting as quickly as possible (Table 13, Figure 11). A shorter time indicates a better functioning of the lower extremity muscles. Age and sex adjusted norm values are available.<sup>88</sup> We categorized the outcome into three groups (Table 16).

**Table 16:** Categorization of the outcome of the Timed Stands Test into three groups according to the performance.

1	Normal
2	Slower than expected given the age- and sex cut-offs but within 60 seconds
3	Does not manage within 60 seconds or at all



Figure 11: The Timed Stands Test from sitting to straight upright position 10 times.

#### EQ-5D-5L

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is an individual's perception of the impact of illness on domains of daily life and functioning.<sup>6</sup> The EuroQol health survey includes 5 dimensions; mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. The 5 levels response version EQ-5D-5L<sup>113, 114</sup> was used (Table 13).

#### Fatigue

The Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20) is a 20-item questionnaire that assesses fatigue over the last few days in 5 dimensions (Table 13). Sum-scores are calculated for each dimension separately and range from 4 to 20. Higher scores indicates a higher level of fatigue.<sup>115</sup>

## Strategies used to prevent missing data

Strategies to minimize missing data in paper I-V:

- 1. Providing education for the outcome assessors before starting the follow-ups at each site.
- 2. Offering a study team available for questions.
- 3. Having written manuals for the TTM cognitive sub-study, the TTM2 main trial and the physical activity sub-study.
- 4. Publishing study protocols for the TTM cognitive sub-study,<sup>14</sup> the TTM2 main trial<sup>116</sup> and the physical activity sub-study.<sup>19</sup>
- 5. Providing a homepage for TTM2 <u>https://ttm2trial.org/</u> with contact information and manuals.
- 6. Utilizing an electronic case report form (eCRF) for all participating sites in the TTM2 trial.
- 7. Monitoring the data during the trials.

## Covid-19

The Covid-19 pandemic affected the follow-ups in paper III, IV and V. There were rules and restrictions at different hospitals during the years 2020-2022 during different time periods. The follow-ups were delayed or cancelled in some cases due to the restrictions and due to the participants' fear to visit hospitals. We performed telephone follow-ups in some cases and then SDMT and TST were missing (paper IV). SDMT and TST required a face-to-face follow-up.

### Ethical considerations

Mild to moderate difficulties are common after CA and may improve with time but may cause problems in daily life. In order to support the survivors in the best possible way, we need better knowledge of aspects of physical function and activity and use appropriate assessments. The trial research protocol was approved by ethical review boards in all participating countries. Patients admitted to hospitals for treatment after OHCA were unconscious, unable to consent to treatment or to participate in the clinical trials. Prior to participating in the follow-ups in TTM cognitive sub-study, TTM2 main trial and TTM2 sub-study, all OHCA survivors and MI controls gave their written informed consent. The participants were allowed to withdraw from the studies at any time, without stating a reason.

If any problems were discovered during the screening procedure, the outcome assessor should ask the participant if he/she has received support for this. Such interventions were not part of the trial, but in line with good clinical practice. The organisation that the outcome assessor works for should have an agreed local policy and strategy of referral in case it is deemed necessary for a participant. The participants did not receive any economic compensation except for an optional travel reimbursement.

## Author's contribution

In 1999, I graduated as a physiotherapist. Physiotherapy is a clinical practice and can be described as the science of movement. The aim of physiotherapy is to promote health by reducing illness and minimise suffering. Physiotherapy also aims to enable people who have suffered illness or injury to maintain or regain optimal mobility, functional ability and participation in social life.<sup>117</sup>

My first encounter with OHCA survivors was when I started to work at the cardiac rehabilitation centre at the Skane University hospital in Lund in 2009. A couple of weeks after hospital discharge, the OHCA survivors came to an individual meeting including a pre-exercise screening test. My experience was that many of the OHCA survivors had impaired physical function and low levels of physical activity. Most seemed positive about starting physical exercise training within cardiac rehabilitation at the hospital, but several did not come to the agreed training session.

On the other hand, the OHCA survivors who participated in exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation improved their physical function and increased their physical activity level. Sometimes they needed additional support. At that time-point, I knew very little about hypoxic brain injuries, cognitive impairment and emotional problems. I identified the following clinical problems:

OHCA survivors with cognitive impairment and emotional problems may need additional support. Cognitive impairment and emotional problems can negatively affect participation in exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation.

In 2017, I became a PhD student at the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University. The TTM2 trial was registered at Clinical Trials (NCT02908308) in November the same year and I initiated for the two questions on physical activity and for the TST to be included.<sup>116</sup> My first goal was to write a review about aspects of physical function and activity in OHCA survivors, but unfortunately there were too few papers published for this topic. Therefore, I started with paper I with the data from the TTM trial.<sup>13</sup>

The year after, paper III and V were designed. We registered the sub-study of the TTM2 trial with focus on physical activity at Clinical trials in June 2018 (NCT 03543332) and wrote paper II the study protocol<sup>19</sup> (Figure 12). For the TTM2 main trial, with the support of colleagues, I carried out the 30 day, 6 month and 24 month follow-ups at site Malmö. I coordinated the physical activity sub-study at 8 hospitals in Sweden, Denmark, and the in the United Kingdom. The sub-study of physical activity was coordinated alongside another TTM2 sub-study investigating neuropsychological function.<sup>93, 94</sup> After including an OHCA survivor to the sub-study/studies, we had to find a MI control matched for age, sex and time of the cardiac event.

Paper IV was designed after the half-time review and seminar (Figure 12). I got the opportunity to analyse the two variables that I had initiated for the main TTM2 study follow-up (the two questions on physical activity and the TST).

To gain a greater understanding at different time-points of the sub-study, I paid visits to the sub-study sites (Gothenburg, Aarhus in Denmark, and Basildon in the United Kingdom) before, during and after the sub-study was ongoing.



Figure 12: Timeline of the author's contribution.

# Results

In the TTM cognitive sub-study, the TTM2 main trial and the TTM2 physical activity sub-study, most participants were men with a median age of just above 60 years. The MI controls were slightly older (Table 17).

Paper	Number of particiants	Male sex n (%)	Age median [Q1:Q3]
1	287 OHCA survivors	247 (86)	62 [54:69]
	119 STEMI controls	102 (86)	64 [57:71]
Ш	49 OHCA survivors	43 (88)	64 [59:70]
IV	807 OHCA survivors	676 (84)	61 [52:70]
V	106 OHCA survivors	94 (89)	63 [57:70]
	91 MI controls	81 (89)	65 [57:71]

Table 17: OHCA survivors and MI controls included in paper I, III, IV and V.

Abbreviations: OHCA = out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, STEMI = ST-elevation myocardial infarction, MI = myocardial infarction.

## Paper I

The nationality of OHCA survivors and matched STEMI control in the sub-study of the TTM trial are presented in Table 18.

Country	OHCA survivors	STEMI controls
	n=287	n=119
Denmark n (%)	103 (36)	35 (29)
Sweden n (%)	66 (23)	34 (28)
Netherlands n (%)	49 (17)	14 (12)
United Kingdom n (%)	36 (13)	15 (13)
Italy n (%)	33 (11)	21 (18)

 Table 18: OHCA survivors and matched STEMI controls in the sub-study of the TTM trial.

Abbreviations: OHCA =out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, STEMI = ST-elevation myocardial infarction.

282 of 287 (98%) OHCA survivors and 119 STEMI controls completed the questionnaire PF-10<sup>96</sup> on self-reported physical function. The OHCA survivors indicated limitations with physical function at a group level (mean 46.0, SD 11.2). The STEMI controls were within the norm at a group level (mean 48.8, SD 9.0). There was a statistically significant difference between the OHCA survivors and STEMI controls (p=0.025). The mean difference (2.8 T-scores, 95% CI 0.7-4.8) did not reach the threshold of minimal important difference of 3 T-scores.

Self-reported limitations in physical function were present in 38% of the OHCA survivors and 26% of the STEMI controls (p=0.022) at an individual level. There were no statistically significant differences in any of the individual PF-10 items between the OHCA survivors and the STEMI controls. In the OHCA survivors, older age, female sex, cognitive impairment, and anxiety and depression symptoms were associated with self-reported physical limitations.

### Paper III

Paper III and V are based on the same TTM2 sub-study cohort. We excluded 19 OHCA survivors due to language difficulties, 13 OHCA survivors due to older age (>80 years old) and one OHCA survivor who was a wheelchair user. 55 OHCA survivors declined to participate in the additional follow-up.<sup>20</sup>

Of the 106 included OHCA survivors, 85 participants had  $\geq$ 4 valid days of accelerometer assessments. 49 of 106 OHCA survivors answered the two questions on physical activity<sup>74</sup> and had 7 valid days of accelerometer assessment, and were thus included in the analysis. For moderate intensity physical activity, more physically active days were registered by self-reports compared to accelerometery (median 5 [3:7] versus 3 [0:5] days, p<0.001). For vigorous intensity physical activity, more physically active days were registered by self-reports compared to accelerometery (1 [0:3] versus 0 [0:0] days, p<0.001).

The correlations between self-reported and accelerometer assessed physical activity were sufficient (MPA  $r_s=0.34$ , VPA  $r_s=0.38$ ). The agreements were fair (MPA k=0.27) and none to slight (VPA k=0.15). The categorization of self-reported versus objectively assessed physical activity showed that 26% versus 65% had a low level of physical activity.

3. Self-reported levels of physical activity in OHCA survivors showed fair and none to slight agreements to the levels of physical activity obtained by an objective assessment. Therefore, the null hypothesis ( $H_0$ ) was accepted, and we failed to meet our criteria for accepting the alternative hypothesis  $H_{\alpha}$ .

#### Paper V

108 OHCA survivors and 92 MI controls were included in paper V (Table 19). Two OHCA survivors and one MI control did not answer the two questions on physical activity<sup>74</sup> and were therefore excluded from the analysis. The two excluded OHCA survivors had severe cognitive impairment and had problems answering the two questions on physical activity and the questionnaires TSK heart, HADS and MFI-20.

Country	Sites/country	OHCA survivors/country	MI controls/country
In total	8	108	92
Sweden	5	57	53
Denmark	1	19	12
United Kingdom	2	32	27

Table 19: Number of OHCA survivors and MI controls included in paper V.

Abbreviations: OHCA =out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, MI = myocardial infarction.

There was no significant difference in levels of physical activity between OHCA survivors and MI controls (p=0.13). Of the OHCA survivors, 25% reported a low level of physical activity compared to 20% of the MI controls. 49% of the OHCA survivors compared to 44% of the MI controls reported a moderate level and 26% versus 36% a high level of physical activity.

1. OHCA survivors did not have lower levels of self-reported physical activity compared to MI controls. The  $H_0$  was accepted but we acknowledge the risk of a type II error because of fewer included MI controls than the power calculation indicated.

Symptoms of kinesiophobia (Table 20) and fatigue (Table 21) were significantly associated with a low level of physical activity in both OHCA survivors and MI controls. OHCA survivors had significantly more problems with kinesiophobia compared to MI controls (p=0.04). Levels of anxiety and depression symptoms and fatigue were similar (HADS-A p=0.18, HADS-D p=0.18).

 Table 20:
 Kinesiophobia by TSK heart (scale 17-68) in OHCA survivors and MI controls was a risk factor of a low level of physical activity.

Risk factor	OR, 95% CI	p-value
OHCA: Kinesiophobia	1.09 (1.02, 1.16)	0.01
MI: Kinesiophobia	1.09 (1.02, 1.18)	0.01

Abbreviations: OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval, OHCA =out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, MI = myocardial infarction.

 Table 21: Fatigue by MFI-20 (scale 4-20) in OHCA survivors and MI controls was a risk factor of a low level of physical activity.

Risk factor	OR, 95% CI	p-value
OHCA: General fatigue	1.17 (1.04, 1.31)	0.007
MI: General fatigue	1.16 (1.02, 1.33)	0.03
OHCA: Physical fatigue	1.15 (1.03, 1.28)	0.01
MI: Physical fatigue	1.18 (1.04, 1.33)	0.01
OHCA: Mental fatigue	1.12 (1.00, 1.25)	0.04
MI: Mental fatigue	1.18 (1.03, 1.35)	0.02
OHCA: Reduced activity	1.18 (1.06, 1.31)	0.003
MI: Reduced activity	1.14 (1.01, 1.30)	0.04
OHCA: Reduced motivation	1.14 (1.01, 1.29)	0.03
MI: Reduced motivation	1.10 (0.95, 1.27)	0.22

Abbreviations: OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval, OHCA =out-of-hospital cardiac arrest, MI = myocardial infarction.

2b. Low levels of self-reported physical activity in OHCA survivors were associated with kinesiophobia and fatigue but not with anxiety and depression symptoms. Therefore, the  $H_0$  was partly rejected.

## Paper IV

807 of 939 (86%) OHCA survivors answered the two questions on physical activity at the 6-month follow-ups in the main TTM2 trial (Table 22).

Country	Number of sites/ country n (%)	Number of participants/ site n (%)
	In total 56	In total 807
Austria	1 (2)	2 (0)
Australia	8 (14)	35 (4)
Belgium	2 (4)	2 (0)
Chez Republic	3 (5)	69 (9)
Denmark	1 (2)	39 (5)
France	5 (9)	69 (9)
Germany	1 (2)	23 (3)
Ireland	1 (2)	7 (1)
Italy	2 (4)	23 (3)
New Zeeland	2 (4)	35 (4)
Norway	4 (7)	68 (8)
Sweden	13 (23)	166 (20)
Switzerland	5 (9)	125 (15)
United Kingdom	8 (14)	144 (18)

**Table 22:** Participating countries, number of sites/country and number of OHCA survivors/site who answered the two questions on physical activity.

ACS, including STEMI (42%) and non-STEMI (13%), was the most common cause of CA followed by arrhythmia (23%) (Table 23). Among the included OHCA survivors, 34% reported a low, 44% a moderate and 22% a high level of physical activity. Obesity, mobility problems reported by EQ-5D-5L, and cognitive impairment assessed by SDMT were significantly associated with a low level of physical activity (Table 24).

 Table 24: Risk factors significantly associated with a low level of self-reported physical activity in the multivariable final model including all potential risk factors.

Risk factor	OR, 95% CI	p-value
Obesity (normal weight/overweight - obesity)	1.75, 1.10–2.77	0.018
Mobility problems by EQ-5D-5L (no problems - problems)	1.73, 1.06–2.84	0.029
Cognitive impairment by SDMT (no problems - problems)	1.78, 1.13–2.82	0.013

Abbreviations: OR = odd ratio, CI = confidence interval, SDMT = Symbol Digit Modalities Test.

**Table 23:** Cause of the cardiac arrest in the main TTM2 trial in 807 OHCA survivor who participated in the 6-month follow-up and answered the two questions on physical activity.

Cardiac arrest cause	Number of participants n (%)
ACS non-STEMI	107 (13)
ACS STEMI	338 (42)
Anaphylaxis	2 (0)
Arrhythmia	186 (23)
Congenital heart disease	5 (0)
Electrolyte disorders	5 (0)
Heart failure	18 (2)
Hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy	9 (1)
Нурохіа	12 (1)
Idiopathic ventricular fibrillation	33 (4)
Idiopathic ventricular tachycardia	5 (0)
Myocarditis	8 (1)
Non-cardiac or non-medical	5 (0)
Other cardiac causes	58 (7)
Other medical causes	6 (1)
Overdose	6 (1)
Pulmonary embolism	3 (0)
Sepsis	1 (0)

Abbreviation: ACS = Acute coronary syndrome, STEMI = ST-elevation myocardial infarction, MI = myocardial infarction.

2a. A low level of self-reported physical activity in OHCA survivors was not associated with age, female sex, impaired general physical function or with impaired global cognition but with impaired mental processing speed/attention. Therefore, the  $H_0$  was accepted except for the variable impaired mental processing speed/attention.

# Discussion

The overall aim of the current thesis was to explore aspects of physical function and activity in OHCA survivors 6-7 months after the CA. The thesis has added knowledge about how we may assess aspects of physical function and activity following OHCA by patient-reports and by performance-based measures. Additionally, potential risk factors associated with limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity were explored. The results of the thesis are discussed followed by discussion on generalizability and methodological considerations.

#### Results discussion

Limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity were common 6-7 months after OHCA. In the TTM sub-study, 38% of the OHCA survivors reported limitations in physical function.<sup>13</sup> In the main TTM2 trial, 34% of the OHCA survivors reported low levels of physical activity compared to 25% of the OHCA survivors in the TTM2 physical activity sub-study. According to accelerometery, 65% of the OHCA survivors had low levels of physical activity.<sup>20</sup> Survivors with limitations in physical function and low levels of physical activity may run an increased risk of suffering new cardiac events and may therefore need support to become more physically active.

#### Moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity

We queried for both moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity in paper I-V. According to the questionnaire PF-10<sup>18</sup>, only 18% of the OHCA survivors and 17% of the MI controls reported that they were able to perform vigorous intensity physical activity without limitations. Many more, 56% of the OHCA survivors and 61% of the MI controls, reported that they were able to perform moderate intensity physical activity without limitations.<sup>13</sup> Among the OHCA survivors in the main TTM2 trial, the median of number of days in moderate intensity physical activity was 5 days per week and the median of number of days in vigorous intensity physical activity was o

days per week. This means that many of the OHCA survivors attained the physical activity recommendation only through moderate intensity physical activity.

At the main study follow-up, 22% reported high levels of physical activity including vigorous intensity physical activity 3 times previous week. At the additional follow-up in the sub-study, 26% of the OHCA survivors versus 36% of the MI controls reported high levels of physical activity. One year after the cardiac event, only 16% of the European patients with coronary artery disease attained vigorous intensity physical activity for 20 minutes or longer at least 3 times a week.<sup>118</sup> If the goal is to decrease the risk of new cardiac events, a regular regimen of moderate intensity physical activity seems adequate in the long run (cardiac rehabilitation phase 3).<sup>74, 119</sup>

#### Cognitive function

Two-thirds of OHCA survivors with self-reported limitations in physical functioning (PF-10 <45) had cognitive impairment compared to one-third of OHCA survivors without limitations in physical function (PF-10  $\geq$ 45).<sup>13</sup> Nearly half of the OHCA survivors with cognitive impairment shown thorough the SDMT had low levels of physical activity compared to one third among those with moderate/high levels of physical activity. This suggests that limitations in physical function and/or low levels of physical activity and cognitive impairment often coexist. Physical activity positively influences cognition but little is known about the dose of physical activity needed to improve the cognitive function.<sup>120</sup> A limitation was that we do not know if the cognitive impairment were present in the OHCA survivors already prior to the CA.<sup>121</sup>

#### Anxiety and depression symptoms

In paper I, there were differences in physical function between OHCA survivors with and without anxiety and depression symptoms reported with HADS.<sup>13</sup> In paper IV, there were also significant differences in physical activity level between OHCA survivors with and without anxiety and depression symptoms reported with EQ-5D-5L. Surprisingly in paper V, there were no significant differences in physical activity levels between OHCA survivors with or without anxiety or depression symptoms reported with HADS. One explanation could be that fewer OHCA survivors with anxiety and depression symptoms chose to participate in the physical sub-study because of the additional follow-up.

#### Obesity

Obesity had a significant association with low levels of physical activity. 21% of the OHCA survivors were obese compare to 30% of the Swedish MI patients<sup>32</sup> and 16% of adults worldwide.<sup>122</sup> Lifestyle interventions are important in prevention of CA and MI and low physical activity level and obesity are modifiable risk factors.<sup>123</sup>

#### Mobility and TST

If you have difficulty walking or getting up from a chair, you may also have difficulty being physically active to some extent. No mobility problems, reported by EQ-5D-5L, and values within the age- and sex cut-offs of the performance-based Timed Stands Test were probably a prerequisite to attain the physical activity recommendation.<sup>12</sup> The OHCA survivors who reported mobility problems and/or were slower than expected by the TST may need support to become more physically active. The reference values for the TST need to be updated for a cardiac population.

#### Kinesiophobia and fatigue

Kinesiophobia and fatigue were associated with low levels of physical activity in both OHCA survivors and MI controls. Kinesiophobia was significantly more common in OHCA survivors compared to MI controls, but no significant differences were found between the groups regarding fatigue. Physical fatigue was the domain with highest median score in the OHCA survivors and general fatigue in the MI controls. An exploratory approach through a qualitative study may increase the knowledge of aspects of physical activity in OHCA survivors and the impact of risk factors such as kinesiophobia and fatigue.

## Generalizability

The TTM cognitive sub-study included OHCA patients in 5 countries in Europe (Table 18), the TTM2 physical activity sub-study in 3 countries in Europe (Table 19) and the TTM2 main trial in 14 countries in Europe, Australia and New Zeeland (Table 22). There are differences both between and within the countries. The results of the thesis are of ascertained applicability in the countries that participated in the studies.

Only patients with CA of a presumed cardiac origin or unknown cause were included in the thesis (Table 23). Further, we have not included patients suffering from CA in hospitals. In-hospital CA offers rapid access to medical service and the patients suffering the CA in-hospital are often critically ill. Therefore, the results of the thesis may not be applicable to survivors with CA of other causes than cardiac or to in-hospital CA survivors.

Patients with a short, witnessed CA with immediate awakening were excluded from the TTM trial and the TTM<sub>2</sub> trial. The results of the thesis are not applicable for OHCA survivors who were conscious at time of arrival to hospital. We have included OHCA survivors  $\geq 18$  years old in paper I-V and the results are only applicable for adults. In paper III and V, we excluded OHCA survivors who were  $\geq 80$  years old and the results are therefore not applicable for those.

## Methodological considerations

When we designed the thesis in 2017, the screening and the follow-up according to the European guidelines after OHCA focused on cognitive impairment and emotional problems.<sup>53</sup> Aspects of physical function and activity were not included. In 2020, the European guidelines included functional assessments of physical impairment before hospital discharge (Figure 6)<sup>43</sup> and in 2021, the Swedish guidelines included screening for physical impairment in the follow-ups.<sup>54</sup>

The thesis was based on current physical activity guidelines and were inspired by the Swedish quality register post MI SWEDEHEART - SEPHIA.<sup>32, 124</sup> The physical activity guidelines have been updated after 2017. We had to design the study, register the study at ClinicalTrials.gov, and apply for ethics approval in the participating countries before we could start the trial and the sub-study. Therefore, the 10 minutes rule is included in the question on moderate intensity physical activity but is excluded from the updated guidelines.<sup>12</sup> The two questions by Haskell *et al*<sup>74</sup> were added to the SWEDEHEART - SEPHIA registry in 2016, and are still used in the registry and in clinical practise at cardiac rehabilitation centres in Sweden.

We chose to ask about the last week of physical activities. Another option could have been to ask about a regular week (Table 25).<sup>125</sup> We wanted to assess the last week to make it possible to investigate the agreement between the two questions on physical activity<sup>74</sup> and objectively assessed physical activity in paper III. Therefore, these questions on a regular week were not an option in the thesis but could be of interest in forthcoming studies. A limitation in paper III-V was that we did not know if and how the assessed weeks differ from regular weeks.

 Table 25:
 The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare's questions on physical activity during a regular week from 2011.

Physical activity/exercise	Question	Answers	
Everyday physical activity RPE 12-13 on the Borg scale <sup>66</sup>	During a regular week, how much time are you physically active in ways that are not exercise, for example walks, bicycling, or gardening? Add together all activities lasting at least 10 minutes	Seven fixed answers were available from no time to 300 minutes	
Physical exercise RPE ≥14 on the Borg scale <sup>66</sup>	During a regular week, how much time do you spend exercising on a level that makes you out of breath, for example running, fitness class, or ball games?	Six fixed answers from no time to 120 minutes	

Abbreviation: RPE = rating of perceived exertion.

We have used the physical activity recommendations published 2007 and the two questions by Haskell *et al.*<sup>74</sup> A limitation was that we have not asked about the exact number of minutes in moderate or vigorous intensity physical activity respectively. According to Haskell *et al.* 3 sessions of 20 minutes of vigorous intensity physical activity per week were enough to attain the physical activity recommendation.<sup>74</sup> We do not know if they have been physically active for more than 20 minutes per session. According to the secondary prevention recommendation cardiac rehabilitation phase 2 (Table 9),<sup>80</sup> vigorous intensity physical activity should start with a minimum of 5 minutes warm up and end with a minimum of 5 minutes cool down in moderate intensity physical activity.

3 sessions x 20 minutes VPA x 2 = 120 activity minutes

3 sessions x 5 minutes warm up MPA + 5 minutes cool down MPA = 30 activity minutes

150 activity minutes

+

We decided that at least 3 sessions per week with at least 20 minutes per session in vigorous intensity physical activity were equivalent to a moderate level of physical activity (150 activity minutes). The updated recommendation for vigorous intensity physical activity in cardiac rehabilitation phase 3 from 2020<sup>80</sup> (Table 10) could be an

option in forthcoming studies (frequency: 5 days/week, intensity: vigorous, time: 15 minutes/session).<sup>80</sup>

We changed the term of the categories of physical activity (Table 26) because the recommendations for secondary prevention and physical exercise training within cardiac rehabilitation could be different according to the CA cause. More than 50% had MI as CA cause but the other half had other causes (Table 23).

Table 26: Physical activity levels in paper II-V.

Physical activity level paper ll	Physical activity level paper III, IV and V
Physical activity below recommended levels for primary prevention	A low level of physical activity
Physical activity to a level recommended for primary prevention	A moderate level of physical activity
Physical activity to a level recommended for primary, and secondary prevention for CAD	A high level of physical activity

Abbreviation: CAD = coronary artery disease.

## Methodological considerations paper I

In paper I, patient-reports reflected what the OHCA survivors and MI controls thought they could do and not what they had done. The PF-10 questionnaire asks: "*Does your health now limit you in these activities*? *If so, how much*?"<sup>8</sup> A limitation of paper I was that no performance-based measure was included. The most valid and reliable test of physical function is performance-based.<sup>60</sup> The performance-based measure TST was included in addition to patient-reports in the TTM2 trial follow-up.<sup>116</sup>

### Methodological considerations paper III

Self-reported levels of physical activity showed fair agreement for moderate intensity physical activity to the levels of physical activity obtained by the accelerometers and none to slight for vigorous intensity physical activity. We failed to meet our criteria of moderate agreement. This could be due to several factors regarding accelerometery such as wear time, number of valid days and counts per minutes cut-offs. A limitation was that the data collection was very dependent on compliance by the participants to wear the accelerometers.<sup>68</sup> A valid day was defined as a minimum of 10 hours wear time.<sup>105, 106</sup> Less than 10 hours wear time per day could be an option in forthcoming studies.

Only 49 of 106 (46%) had 7 valid days and were included in the final analysis. 4 valid days is enough in clinical trials due to guidelines<sup>105, 106</sup> and 87 of 106 (82%) participants had  $\leq$ 4 valid days of accelerometer assessments. We found no guidelines for analysing accelerometer data with missing data in clinical trials.<sup>126</sup> There is probably small differences within each individual but a large difference between individuals. If we had imputed data, it would no longer be objectively assessed physical activity.

In the sub-study protocol,<sup>19</sup> we stated that we plan to use uniaxial counts per minute cut-off values by Freedson.<sup>87</sup> We have used triaxial accelerometers Actigraph GT<sub>3</sub>X-BT and therefore changed to triaxial counts per minute cut-off values by Sasaki.<sup>107</sup> The counts per minute cut-off values by Freedson<sup>87</sup> and by Sasaki<sup>107</sup> are based on healthy adults. We identified one accelerometer study based on high functional patients with coronary artery disese.<sup>127</sup> A limitation was that age, sex, relative intensity by METs and VO<sub>2</sub> peak differ a lot between the participants (Table 27). Boyce *et al*<sup>121</sup> tested the relative intensity on an ergometer bicycle in OHCA survivors with MI as a CA cause (Table 27). No accelerometer assessments were used in their study.<sup>121</sup>

Another option may be individualized counts per minute cut-off values based on relative intensity of cardiopulmonary exercise tests.<sup>128</sup> Based on the person's maximum exercise capacity  $VO_2$  max, the counts per minute cut-off values for moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity can be calculated.

There is a need for OHCA specific accelerometer counts per minute cutoff values, preferably age and sex matched.

Reference	<b>Freedson</b> (VA) <sup>87</sup>	Sasaki (VM) <sup>107</sup>	<b>Mark</b> (VM) <sup>127</sup>	Boyce <sup>121</sup>	Heimburg (VM) <sup>20</sup>
Accelerometer	Uniaxial GT1M	Triaxial GT3X	Triaxial GT3X	n/a	Triaxial GT3X
Position	Right hip	Right hip	Right hip	n/a	Right hip
Time-point of assessment	Healthy individuals	Healthy individuals	Post CR	6-8 weeks after OHCA before CR	7 months after OHCA
Participants	50 healthy adults	36 healthy adults	18 high functional CAD patients	53 OHCA caused by MI	49 OHCA survivors cardiac cause
Male sex n (%)	25 (50)	28 (78)	17 (94)	45 (85)	43 (88)
Age in years mean (SD)	24 (4)	28 (9)	58 (11)	60 (range 42- 84)	61 (11)
BMI mean (SD/range)	N/A	24 (3.3)	N/A	26 (20-38)	27 (19-37)
METs: relative intensity, VPA	9.7	N/A	N/A	5.5	N/A
VO <sub>2</sub> peak (ml/kg/min) mean (SD)	33.9 (2.6) treadmill	N/A	29.5 (7.6)	19.3 (IQR 15.2-23.9) ergometer bicycle	N/A

 Table 27: Summary of four studies of accelerometery and one study of exercise capacitity.

Abbreviations: VA = vertical axis, VM = vector magnitude, CR = cardiac rehabilitation, CAD = coronary artery disease, BMI = body mass index, MET= metabolic equivalent of task, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity, VO<sub>2</sub> peak = peak oxygen consumption, IQR = interquartile range.

The accelerometer Actigraph is not waterproof. The aim of the training log was to add information on activities that could not be assessed by the accelerometer e.g. swimming. Fortunately, swimming and other water activities were unusual among the OHCA survivors (Table 28). The participants specified their activities during the week according to the FITT principle (Table 5).<sup>11</sup> We focused on activities with perceived exertion  $\geq 12$  on the Borg scale (Table 6)<sup>66</sup> corresponding to moderate and vigorous intensity physical activity respectively.

**Table 28:** Swimming sessions registered in the training logs, frequency, duration in minutes and perceived exertion on the Borg scale<sup>66</sup>.

ID	Frequency of swimming sessions	Minutes per session	RPE 12≥ on the Borg scale	Number of days
7 valid days*				
SWXXXX	2	30, 30	16, 16	2 VPA
SWXXXX	1	50	13	1 MPA
UKXXX	1	30	12	1 MPA
<7 valid days**				
SWXXXX	1	30	missing	
SWXXXX	2	30, 30	14, 14	2 VPA

Abbreviations: RPE= rating of perceived exertion, VPA = vigorous intensity physical activity, MPA = moderate intensity physical activity. \* Included in the analysis, \*\*excluded from the analysis.

One wheelchair user was excluded from the physical activity sub-study. We could not control for when the participant was physically active on his own or when the wheelchair was driven by someone else.

A limitation was that we did not assess the MI controls with accelerometers. 57 MI patients were assessed in another study by Bargholtz *et al.*<sup>129</sup> The same two questions by Haskell *et al.*<sup>74</sup> and triaxial accelerometers (Actigraph GT<sub>3</sub>X) were used. The study accepted 9 hours wear time per day and showed higher correlation between the two questions<sup>74</sup> and the accelerometer assessments regarding moderate intensity physical activity but lower regarding vigorous intensity physical activity.<sup>129</sup>

### Methodological considerations paper V

We found no significant difference between OHCA survivors and MI controls regarding physical activity level. We acknowledge the risk of a type II error<sup>130</sup> because of fewer included MI controls than the power calculation indicated.<sup>19</sup> A limitation in paper V was that we performed only univariable logistic regressions due to small groups of OHCA survivors and MI controls. In this paper, we chose to analyse the risk factors as continuous variables. To our knowledge, there were no cut-off values in the different domains of the questionnaire MFI-20. The cut-off value of the TSK heart questionnaire has not been specifically validated in OHCA survivors. Future studies are needed to get accurate cut-off values to use in clinical practice and research regarding MFI-20 and TSK heart in OHCA survivors.

## Methodological considerations paper IV

In paper IV, multivariable logistic regressions were possible due to the large cohort of over 800 OHCA survivors. We chose to use the potential risk factors as dichotomized variables, except for the variable age, to facilitate the interpretation of the questionnaires in clinical practice. A dichotomous scale is often easier to comprehend and interpret, but a continuous scale is more sensitive.<sup>131</sup>

# Conclusions

- I. Self-reported limitations in physical function were more common in OHCA survivors than in STEMI controls. Risk factors for self-reported limitations in physical function amongst OHCA survivors were older age, female sex, cognitive impairment, symptoms of anxiety and depression at the 6-months follow-up.
- III. The OHCA survivors reported more physically active days compared to the results of the accelerometer assessments. The self-reported and the objective assessed physical activity showed that 24% of the OHCA survivors were categorized in the group low level of physical activity by both assessments. The two questions on self-reported physical activity could be useful in clinical practice and research settings to screen for a low level of physical activity.
- IV. One third of the OHCA survivors reported a low level of physical activity. Risk factors for a low level of physical activity were obesity, mobility problems and cognitive impairment.
- V. One quarter of the OHCA survivors and one fifth of the MI controls reported a low level of physical activity with no significant difference. Kinesiophobia and fatigue were associated with a low level of physical activity in both groups.

## Clinical implications

Here follows clinical suggestions based on the thesis:

- Assess physical function in OHCA survivors regardless of the CA cause, by using the questionnaire Physical Functioning 10 and the performance-based Timed Stands Test.
- Assess the physical activity level in OHCA survivors regardless of the CA cause, by using the two questions or objectively by accelerometery.
- Focus on the OHCA survivors identified with limitations in physical function and/or a low level of physical activity. Survivors who are physically active at a moderate/high level probably need no or little support.
- Based on factors identified as risk factors of limitations in physical function, screen for cognitive impairment, anxiety and depression symptoms.
- Based on factors identified as risk factors of a low level of physical activity, screen for obesity, mobility problems, cognitive impairment, kinesiophobia and fatigue.
- Collaboration between the Department of Cardiology and Neurology for better support of both OHCA survivors and MI patients.
- Provide OHCA survivors supervised physical exercise training within cardiac rehabilitation regardless of the CA cause.
- Provide physical activity counselling regardless of the CA cause.
- Screen MI patients for cognitive impairment, anxiety and depression symptoms, kinesiophobia and fatigue. The MI patients may suffer from cognitive impairment as an effect of cardiovascular burden.<sup>121</sup>

## Knowledge gaps

- Explore aspects of physical function, physical activity and risk factors before and after rehabilitation in OHCA survivors.
- Investigate potential differences in physical function, physical activity and risk factors between conscious and unconscious patients suffering OHCA at hospital arrival.
- Calculate new counts per minute cut-off values for accelerometer data, based on cardiopulmonary exercise tests, in OHCA survivors.
- Update the reference values for the performance-based Timed Stands Test for a cardiac population.
- Perform a qualitative study to increase the depth of information on aspects of physical function and activity in OHCA survivors to identify problems and solutions.

## Future perspectives

Completing the right assessment at the right time is crucial in promoting recovery. Our suggestion is to focus on the OHCA survivors having limitations in physical function and/or low levels of physical activity. The OHCA survivors having normal physical function and being physically active at a moderate/high level probably need little or no support regarding physical function and physical activity. If the OHCA survivor has limitations in physical function, screen for cognitive impairment, anxiety and depression symptoms. If the OHCA survivor has a low level of physical activity, screen for obesity, mobility problems, cognitive impairment, kinesiophobia and fatigue. If any impairment or symptoms are detected during the screening procedure, the outcome assessor and the medical staff should provide the OHCA survivor with guidance and support.

### "Knowledge is of no value unless you put it into practice".

Anton Chekhov 1860-1904

# Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to everyone who contributed and helped me in various ways to complete my thesis. Thanks to my supervisors, all outcome assessors and co-authors for making the studies and manuscripts possible. I would like to thank all participants in the studies of the thesis. This thesis would not have been written without their contribution to science.

#### Special thanks to:

**Tobias Cronberg**, my main supervisor. Thank you for taking the time to listen to my ideas at that lunch in April 2015 and making the thesis possible. I am extremely grateful for your invaluable advice, continuous support and patience. I could not have completed this ultramarathon race without your support along the way.

Gisela Lilja, my co-supervisor. Thanks for introducing me to the research field and sharing your excellent knowledge about screening and follow-up after OHCA. No missing data. I am still working on my activity balance.

Åsa Tornberg, my co-supervisor. Thank you for your positive support and exciting discussions about physical activity and accelerometery. Exercise is medicine.

Niklas Nielsen, thanks for your support and help with ethics applications and KVB application.

Hans Friberg, thank you for your support and encouragement.

Erik Blennow Nordström, thank you for your help, for sharing your great knowledge and for all fun collaboration.

To the team in Gothenburg Magnus Segerström close collaborator in the TTM2 physical activity sub-study and Christian Rylander for your invaluable comments throughout the work on the manuscripts.

To the team in the United Kingdom Marco Mion and Helen Hill close collaborators in the TTM2 physical activity sub-study and Thomas Keeble and Matthew Wise for your invaluable comments throughout the work on the manuscripts.

To the team in Aarhus Ida Katrine Thomsen, Hans Kirkegaard, Anders Grejs, Lisa Gregersen Østergaard and Lars Evald all close collaborators in the TTM2 physical activity sub-study.

Ewa Mattsson thanks for your quick supply of potential MI controls.

Thanks to my half time reviewers **Maria Bäck** and **Patrik Tydén** for your guidance and support during my work on the thesis.

To the follow-up team Gisela Lilja, Tobias Cronberg, Erik Blennow Nordström, Mattias Bohm, Sara Andertun, Anna Bjärnroos and Dorit Töniste. Best team ever.

My research colleagues Cecilia Andréll, Helena Levin and Marion Moseby Knappe and all the others. Thanks for support, encouragement, interesting conversations and laughs.

Susann Ullén, statistician. Thanks for your patience, support and helpful mind.

Thanks to Fina fräna fysioter Katarina Ferm, Jessica Lidholm and Sara Nilsund Lundquist and all my clinical colleagues at the Department of Cardiology in Lund for great collaboration and a nice atmosphere.

Last, but not least, family and friends,

Special thanks to my parents **Barbro** and **Björn** for never-ending love and support throughout my life.

My sisters Magdalena and Johanna with families for your loving support. Best sisters ever.

My children **Julia** and **Max**, being your mother and following your journey is a gift. I am so proud of you. Love you!

My darling, **Michael**, thank you for believing in me and supporting me during the ups and downs on my PhD path.

Ulla and Peter, for your invaluable help and support.

All my friends, you know who you are. For true friendship, generosity, support, laughter and talks **Ulrika Haglund**, **Therese Ortner** and **Marie Neuman** and all others.

#### This thesis has been made possible through generous grants from:

Skane University Hospital Foundations, Academy of Health Care Sciences Skane University Hospital, Hans-Gabriel and Alice Trolle-Wachtmeister Foundation for Medical Research, the Gyllenstierna-Krapperup Foundation and the Swedish Heart and Lung Association.

# References

- [1] Jacobs I, Nadkarni V, Bahr J, Berg RA, Billi JE, Bossaert L, et al. Cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation outcome reports: update and simplification of the Utstein templates for resuscitation registries. A statement for healthcare professionals from a task force of the international liaison committee on resuscitation (American Heart Association, European Resuscitation Council, Australian Resuscitation Council, New Zealand Resuscitation Council, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, InterAmerican Heart Foundation, Resuscitation Council of Southern Africa). Resuscitation. 2004;63:233-49.
- [2] Cummins RO, Chamberlain DA, Abramson NS, Allen M, Baskett PJ, Becker L, et al. Recommended guidelines for uniform reporting of data from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: the Utstein Style. A statement for health professionals from a task force of the American Heart Association, the European Resuscitation Council, the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, and the Australian Resuscitation Council. Circulation. 1991;84:960-75.
- [3] Nolan J, Soar J, Eikeland H. The chain of survival. Resuscitation. 2006;71:270-1.
- [4] Grasner JT, Wnent J, Herlitz J, Perkins GD, Lefering R, Tjelmeland I, et al. Survival after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in Europe - Results of the EuReCa TWO study. Resuscitation. 2020;148:218-26.
- [5] Myat A, Song KJ, Rea T. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: current concepts. Lancet. 2018;391:970-9.
- [6] Sawyer KN, Camp-Rogers TR, Kotini-Shah P, Del Rios M, Gossip MR, Moitra VK, et al. Sudden Cardiac Arrest Survivorship: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2020;141:e654-e85.
- [7] Nolan JP. Cardiac Arrest and Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Semin Neurol. 2017;37:5-12.
- [8] Cronberg T, Greer DM, Lilja G, Moulaert V, Swindell P, Rossetti AO. Brain injury after cardiac arrest: from prognostication of comatose patients to rehabilitation. Lancet Neurol. 2020;19:611-22.
- [9] Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100:126-31.

- [10] Yrkesföreningar för Fysisk Aktivitet. Fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling, FYSS 2021. Stockholm: Läkartidningen Förlag AB; 2021.
- [11] Barisic A, Leatherdale ST, Kreiger N. Importance of frequency, intensity, time and type (FITT) in physical activity assessment for epidemiological research. Can J Public Health. 2011;102:174-5.
- [12] Bull FC, Al-Ansari SS, Biddle S, Borodulin K, Buman MP, Cardon G, et al. World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Br J Sports Med. 2020;54:1451-62.
- [13] Heimburg K, Cronberg T, Tornberg AB, Ullen S, Friberg H, Nielsen N, et al. Selfreported limitations in physical function are common 6 months after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resusc Plus. 2022;11:100275.
- [14] Lilja G, Nielsen N, Friberg H, Horn J, Kjaergaard J, Pellis T, et al. Cognitive function after cardiac arrest and temperature management; rationale and description of a substudy in the Target Temperature Management trial. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2013;13:85.
- [15] Lilja G, Nielsen N, Friberg H, Horn J, Kjaergaard J, Nilsson F, et al. Cognitive function in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest after target temperature management at 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C. Circulation. 2015;131:1340-9.
- [16] Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, al-Subaie N, Andersson B, Bro-Jeppesen J, Bishop G, et al. Target Temperature Management after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest--a randomized, parallel-group, assessor-blinded clinical trial--rationale and design. Am Heart J. 2012;163:541-8.
- [17] Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, Erlinge D, Gasche Y, Hassager C, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33 degrees C versus 36 degrees C after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:2197-206.
- [18] Ware JE. SF-36v2 Health Survey: Administration Guide for Clinical Investigators. Quality Metric, Incorporated; 2008.
- [19] Heimburg K, Lilja G, Tornberg AB, Ullen S, Blennow Nordstrom E, Friberg H, et al. Physical activity after cardiac arrest; protocol of a sub-study in the Targeted Hypothermia versus Targeted Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest trial (TTM2). Resusc Plus. 2021;5:100076.
- [20] Heimburg K, Lilja G, Nordstrom EB, Friberg H, Oestergaard LG, Grejs AM, et al. Agreement between self-reported and objectively assessed physical activity among out-ofhospital cardiac arrest survivors. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2023.
- [21] Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, Jakobsen JC, Belohlavek J, Callaway C, et al. Targeted hypothermia versus targeted Normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2): A randomized clinical trial-Rationale and design. Am Heart J. 2019;217:23-31.

- [22] Dankiewicz J, Cronberg T, Lilja G, Jakobsen JC, Levin H, Ullen S, et al. Hypothermia versus Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. N Engl J Med. 2021;384:2283-94.
- [23] Marijon E, Narayanan K, Smith K, Barra S, Basso C, Blom MT, et al. The Lancet Commission to reduce the global burden of sudden cardiac death: a call for multidisciplinary action. Lancet. 2023;402:883-936.
- [24] Larsen JM, Ravkilde J. Acute coronary angiography in patients resuscitated from out-ofhospital cardiac arrest--a systematic review and meta-analysis. Resuscitation. 2012;83:1427-33.
- [25] Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J. 2020;41:407-77.
- [26] Thompson PD, Franklin BA, Balady GJ, Blair SN, Corrado D, Estes NA, 3rd, et al. Exercise and acute cardiovascular events placing the risks into perspective: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism and the Council on Clinical Cardiology. Circulation. 2007;115:2358-68.
- [27] Byrne RA, Rossello X, Coughlan JJ, Barbato E, Berry C, Chieffo A, et al. 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care. 2023.
- [28] Grasner JT, Herlitz J, Tjelmeland IBM, Wnent J, Masterson S, Lilja G, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Epidemiology of cardiac arrest in Europe. Resuscitation. 2021;161:61-79.
- [29] Swedish Resuscitation Council, Swedish Registry for Cardiopulomonary Resuscitation annual report (2022). <u>https://www.hlr.nu/svenska-hlr-registret/2022</u>.
- [30] Wagner MK, Christensen J, Christensen KA, Dichman C, Gottlieb R, Kolster I, et al. A multidisciplinary guideline-based approach to improving the sudden cardiac arrest care pathway: The Copenhagen framework. Resusc Plus. 2024;17:100546.
- [31] Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest Outcomes (OHCAO) Registry. <u>https://www.resus.org.uk/about-us/news-and-events/new-data-reveals-decrease-out-hospital-cardiac-arrest-survival-rates</u> (Thu, 11/01/2024).
- [32] Vasko P. SWEDEHEART Annual report 2023. 2024.
- [33] Nolan JP, Maconochie I, Soar J, Olasveengen TM, Greif R, Wyckoff MH, et al. Executive Summary 2020 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. Resuscitation. 2020;156:A1-A22.
- [34] Reddy PR, Reinier K, Singh T, Mariani R, Gunson K, Jui J, et al. Physical activity as a trigger of sudden cardiac arrest: the Oregon Sudden Unexpected Death Study. Int J Cardiol. 2009;131:345-9.

- [35] Fruytier LA, van de Sande DA, Kemps HM. Exercise-related major adverse cardiovascular events in asymptomatic recreational master athletes: a case series. Eur Heart J Case Rep. 2022;6:ytac309.
- [36] Eijsvogels TMH, Thompson PD, Franklin BA. The "Extreme Exercise Hypothesis": Recent Findings and Cardiovascular Health Implications. Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med. 2018;20:84.
- [37] Chung MK, Eckhardt LL, Chen LY, Ahmed HM, Gopinathannair R, Joglar JA, et al. Lifestyle and Risk Factor Modification for Reduction of Atrial Fibrillation: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2020;141:e750-e72.
- [38] Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. Lancet. 1975;1:480-4.
- [39] Rittenberger JC, Raina K, Holm MB, Kim YJ, Callaway CW. Association between Cerebral Performance Category, Modified Rankin Scale, and discharge disposition after cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2011;82:1036-40.
- [40] Haywood K, Whitehead L, Nadkarni VM, Achana F, Beesems S, Bottiger BW, et al. COSCA (Core Outcome Set for Cardiac Arrest) in Adults: An Advisory Statement From the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Circulation. 2018;137:e783-e801.
- [41] Testa MA, Simonson DC. Assessment of quality-of-life outcomes. N Engl J Med. 1996;334:835-40.
- [42] Bohm M, Lilja G, Finnbogadottir H, Cronberg T, Unden J, Friberg H, et al. Detailed analysis of health-related quality of life after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2019;135:197-204.
- [43] Nolan JP, Sandroni C, Bottiger BW, Cariou A, Cronberg T, Friberg H, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines 2021: Post-resuscitation care. Resuscitation. 2021;161:220-69.
- [44] Kim YJ, Joshi V, Wu Q. Subjective factors of depressive symptoms, ambulation, pain, and fatigue are associated with physical activity participation in cardiac arrest survivors with fatigue. Resusc Plus. 2021;5:100057.
- [45] Picano E, Bruno RM, Ferrari GF, Bonuccelli U. Cognitive impairment and cardiovascular disease: so near, so far. Int J Cardiol. 2014;175:21-9.
- [46] Ohtake PJ, Lee AC, Scott JC, Hinman RS, Ali NA, Hinkson CR, et al. Physical Impairments Associated With Post-Intensive Care Syndrome: Systematic Review Based on the World Health Organization's International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health Framework. Phys Ther. 2018;98:631-45.
- [47] Baltes PB, Staudinger UM, Lindenberger U. Lifespan psychology: theory and application to intellectual functioning. Annu Rev Psychol. 1999;50:471-507.
- [48] Moulaert VRM, van Heugten CM, Gorgels TPM, Wade DT, Verbunt JA. Long-term Outcome After Survival of a Cardiac Arrest: A Prospective Longitudinal Cohort Study. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2017;31:530-9.

- [49] Orbo M, Aslaksen PM, Larsby K, Schafer C, Tande PM, Anke A. Alterations in cognitive outcome between 3 and 12 months in survivors of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2016;105:92-9.
- [50] Yaow CYL, Teoh SE, Lim WS, Wang RSQ, Han MX, Pek PP, et al. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder after cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Resuscitation. 2022;170:82-91.
- [51] Kori S MR, Todd D. Kineisiophobia: a new view of chronic pain behavior. Pain Manag. 1990;1990;3(1):35–43.
- [52] Dittner AJ, Wessely SC, Brown RG. The assessment of fatigue: a practical guide for clinicians and researchers. J Psychosom Res. 2004;56:157-70.
- [53] Nolan JP, Soar J, Cariou A, Cronberg T, Moulaert VR, Deakin CD, et al. European Resuscitation Council and European Society of Intensive Care Medicine Guidelines for Post-resuscitation Care 2015: Section 5 of the European Resuscitation Council Guidelines for Resuscitation 2015. Resuscitation. 2015;95:202-22.
- [54] HLR rådet, Svenska riktlinjer för uppföljning efter hjärtstopp. <u>https://www.hlr.nu/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Svenska.riktlinjer.2021.uppfoljning.pdf2021</u>.
- [55] Mion M, Simpson R, Johnson T, Oriolo V, Gudde E, Rees P, et al. British Cardiovascular Intervention Society Consensus Position Statement on Out-of-hospital Cardiac Arrest 2: Post-discharge Rehabilitation. Interv Cardiol. 2022;17:e19.
- [56] Boyce LW, Goossens PH. Rehabilitation after Cardiac Arrest: Integration of Neurologic and Cardiac Rehabilitation. Semin Neurol. 2017;37:94-102.
- [57] Boyce LW, Goossens PH, Moulaert VR, Pound G, van Heugten CM. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors need both cardiological and neurological rehabilitation! Curr Opin Crit Care. 2019;25:240-3.
- [58] Mion M, Case R, Smith K, Lilja G, Blennow Nordstrom E, Swindell P, et al. Follow-up care after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A pilot study of survivors and families' experiences and recommendations. Resusc Plus. 2021;7:100154.
- [59] Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43:1334-59.
- [60] Painter P, Stewart AL, Carey S. Physical functioning: definitions, measurement, and expectations. Adv Ren Replace Ther. 1999;6:110-23.
- [61] Hodgson CL, Denehy L. Measuring physical function after ICU: one step at a time. Intensive Care Med. 2017;43:1901-3.
- [62] Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Leon AS, Jacobs DR, Jr., Montoye HJ, Sallis JF, et al. Compendium of physical activities: classification of energy costs of human physical activities. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1993;25:71-80.

- [63] Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Whitt MC, Irwin ML, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, et al. Compendium of physical activities: an update of activity codes and MET intensities. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2000;32:S498-504.
- [64] Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett DR, Jr., Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of Physical Activities: a second update of codes and MET values. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43:1575-81.
- [65] Siddique J, Aaby D, Montag SE, Sidney S, Sternfeld B, Welch WA, et al. Individualized Relative-Intensity Physical Activity Accelerometer Cut Points. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2020;52:398-407.
- [66] Borg G. Perceived exertion. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 1974;1974;2:131-53.
- [67] Innerd P. Physical activity assessment: a lifecourse approach: Routledge; 2020.
- [68] Skender S, Ose J, Chang-Claude J, Paskow M, Bruhmann B, Siegel EM, et al. Accelerometry and physical activity questionnaires - a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2016;16:515.
- [69] Morris JN, Heady JA, Raffle PA, Roberts CG, Parks JW. Coronary heart-disease and physical activity of work. Lancet. 1953;265:1111-20; concl.
- [70] Morris JN KA, Pattison DC, Gardner MJ. . Incidence and prediction of ischaemic heartdisease in London busmen. Lancet. 1966;2:553–9.
- [71] Fletcher GF, Blair SN, Blumenthal J, Caspersen C, Chaitman B, Epstein S, et al. Statement on exercise. Benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all Americans. A statement for health professionals by the Committee on Exercise and Cardiac Rehabilitation of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart association. Circulation. 1992;86:340-4.
- [72] Pate RR. Physical activity and health: dose-response issues. Res Q Exerc Sport. 1995;66:313-7.
- [73] Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health. A recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. JAMA. 1995;273:402-7.
- [74] Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, et al. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39:1423-34.
- [75] Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39:1435-45.
- [76] Piercy KL, Troiano RP. Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans From the US Department of Health and Human Services. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2018;11:e005263.

- [77] Yrkesföreningar för Fysisk Aktivitet, Fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling, FYSS 2017. Estland: Läkartidningen Förlag AB; 2016.
- [78] WHO. World Report on Disability. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- [79] Tang LH, Joshi V, Egholm CL, Zwisler AD. Are survivors of cardiac arrest provided with standard cardiac rehabilitation? - Results from a national survey of hospitals and municipalities in Denmark. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2020:1474515120946313.
- [80] Ambrosetti M, Abreu A, Corra U, Davos CH, Hansen D, Frederix I, et al. Secondary prevention through comprehensive cardiovascular rehabilitation: From knowledge to implementation. 2020 update. A position paper from the Secondary Prevention and Rehabilitation Section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2020:2047487320913379.
- [81] Dibben G, Faulkner J, Oldridge N, Rees K, Thompson DR, Zwisler AD, et al. Exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2021;11:CD001800.
- [82] Dibben GO, Faulkner J, Oldridge N, Rees K, Thompson DR, Zwisler AD, et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Eur Heart J. 2023;44:452-69.
- [83] Abreu A, Frederix I, Dendale P, Janssen A, Doherty P, Piepoli MF, et al. Standardization and quality improvement of secondary prevention through cardiovascular rehabilitation programmes in Europe: The avenue towards EAPC accreditation programme: A position statement of the Secondary Prevention and Rehabilitation Section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology (EAPC). Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2021;28:496-509.
- [84] Balady GJ, Williams MA, Ades PA, Bittner V, Comoss P, Foody JM, et al. Core components of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention Committee, the Council on Clinical Cardiology; the Councils on Cardiovascular Nursing, Epidemiology and Prevention, and Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism; and the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation. Circulation. 2007;115:2675-82.
- [85] Piepoli MF, Corra U, Benzer W, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Dendale P, Gaita D, et al. Secondary prevention through cardiac rehabilitation: from knowledge to implementation. A position paper from the Cardiac Rehabilitation Section of the European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2010;17:1-17.
- [86] Ainsworth B, Cahalin L, Buman M, Ross R. The current state of physical activity assessment tools. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2015;57:387-95.
- [87] Freedson PS, Melanson E, Sirard J. Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1998;30:777-81.

- [88] Csuka M, McCarty DJ. Simple method for measurement of lower extremity muscle strength. Am J Med. 1985;78:77-81.
- [89] Orrell A, Doherty P, Coulton S, Miles J, Stamatakis E, Lewin R. Failure to validate the Health Survey for England physical activity module in a cardiac population. Health Policy. 2007;84:262-8.
- [90] Ekblom-Bak E, Olsson G, Ekblom O, Ekblom B, Bergstrom G, Borjesson M. The Daily Movement Pattern and Fulfilment of Physical Activity Recommendations in Swedish Middle-Aged Adults: The SCAPIS Pilot Study. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0126336.
- [91] Cronberg T, Lilja G, Horn J, Kjaergaard J, Wise MP, Pellis T, et al. Neurologic Function and Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients Following Targeted Temperature Management at 33 degrees C vs 36 degrees C After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:634-41.
- [92] Lilja G, Ullen S, Dankiewicz J, Friberg H, Levin H, Nordstrom EB, et al. Effects of Hypothermia vs Normothermia on Societal Participation and Cognitive Function at 6 Months in Survivors After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Predefined Analysis of the TTM2 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Neurol. 2023.
- [93] Blennow Nordström E, Lilja G, Vestberg S, Ullén S, Friberg H, Nielsen N, et al. Neuropsychological outcome after cardiac arrest: a prospective case control sub-study of the Targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest trial (TTM2). BMC Cardiovascular Disorders. 2020;20:439.
- [94] Blennow Nordstrom E, Vestberg S, Evald L, Mion M, Segerstrom M, Ullen S, et al. Neuropsychological outcome after cardiac arrest: results from a sub-study of the targeted hypothermia versus targeted normothermia after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (TTM2) trial. Crit Care. 2023;27:328.
- [95] Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ. 2005;173:489-95.
- [96] Maruish M. User's manual for the SF-36v2 health survey: Lincoln, QualityMetric Incorperated; 2011.
- [97] Raczek AE, Ware JE, Bjorner JB, Gandek B, Haley SM, Aaronson NK, et al. Comparison of Rasch and summated rating scales constructed from SF-36 physical functioning items in seven countries: results from the IQOLA Project. International Quality of Life Assessment. J Clin Epidemiol. 1998;51:1203-14.
- [98] Visseren FLJ, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Back M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur Heart J. 2021.
- [99] Wilson BA, Cockburn, J. & Baddley, A.D. The Rivermead Behavioural Memory Test: Tictchfield, Fareham, Hants: Thames Valley test Company; 1985.
- [100] Dubois B, Slachevsky A, Litvan I, Pillon B. The FAB: a Frontal Assessment Battery at bedside. Neurology. 2000;55:1621-6.

- [101] Smith A. Symbol digit modalities test; manual. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services; 1982.
- [102] Sheridan LK, Fitzgerald HE, Adams KM, Nigg JT, Martel MM, Puttler LI, et al. Normative Symbol Digit Modalities Test performance in a community-based sample. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2006;21:23-8.
- [103] Lilja G, Nielsen N, Bro-Jeppesen J, Dunford H, Friberg H, Hofgren C, et al. Return to Work and Participation in Society After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2018;11:e003566.
- [104] Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983;67:361-70.
- [105] Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, Delisle Nystrom C, Mora-Gonzalez J, Lof M, et al. Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. Sports Med. 2017;47:1821-45.
- [106] Arvidsson D, Fridolfsson J, Borjesson M. Measurement of physical activity in clinical practice using accelerometers. J Intern Med. 2019;286:137-53.
- [107] Sasaki JE, John D, Freedson PS. Validation and comparison of ActiGraph activity monitors. J Sci Med Sport. 2011;14:411-6.
- [108] Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bedirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2005;53:695-9.
- [109] Miller R, Kori S, Todd D. The Tampa Scale: measurement of kinesiophobia. Clin J Pain. 1991;7.
- [110] Back M, Cider A, Herlitz J, Lundberg M, Jansson B. The impact on kinesiophobia (fear of movement) by clinical variables for patients with coronary artery disease. International Journal of Cardiology. 2013;167:391-7.
- [111] Patel N, Rao VA, Heilman-Espinoza ER, Lai R, Quesada RA, Flint AC. Simple and reliable determination of the modified rankin scale score in neurosurgical and neurological patients: the mRS-9Q. Neurosurgery. 2012;71:971-5; discussion 5.
- [112] Newcomer KL, Krug HE, Mahowald ML. Validity and reliability of the timed-stands test for patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other chronic diseases. J Rheumatol. 1993;20:21-7.
- [113] EuroQoL. EQ-5D-5L User Guide; Basic Information on how to use the EQ-5D-5L instrument. 2021.
- [114] Feng YS, Kohlmann T, Janssen MF, Buchholz I. Psychometric properties of the EQ-5D-5L: a systematic review of the literature. Qual Life Res. 2021;30:647-73.
- [115] Smets EM, Garssen B, Bonke B, De Haes JC. The Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI) psychometric qualities of an instrument to assess fatigue. J Psychosom Res. 1995;39:315-25.

- [116] Lilja G, Nielsen N, Ullen S, Blennow Nordstrom E, Dankiewicz J, Friberg H, et al. Protocol for outcome reporting and follow-up in the Targeted Hypothermia versus Targeted Normothermia after Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest trial (TTM2). Resuscitation. 2020;150:104-12.
- [117] Broberg C, Lenne R. Fysioterapi profession och vetenskap. Stockholm: Fysioterapeuterna; 2019.
- [118] Kotseva K, De Backer G, De Bacquer D, Ryden L, Hoes A, Grobbee D, et al. Lifestyle and impact on cardiovascular risk factor control in coronary patients across 27 countries: Results from the European Society of Cardiology ESC-EORP EUROASPIRE V registry. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2019;26:824-35.
- [119] O'Keefe EL, Torres-Acosta N, O'Keefe JH, Lavie CJ. Training for Longevity: The Reverse J-Curve for Exercise. Mo Med. 2020;117:355-61.
- [120] Erickson KI, Hillman C, Stillman CM, Ballard RM, Bloodgood B, Conroy DE, et al. Physical Activity, Cognition, and Brain Outcomes: A Review of the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2019;51:1242-51.
- [121] Boyce LW, Reinders CC, Volker G, Los E, van Exel HJ, Vliet Vlieland TPM, et al. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors with cognitive impairments have lower exercise capacity. Resuscitation. 2017;115:90-5.
- [122] WHO. Obesity and overweight. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022.
- [123] Sanchez-Lastra MA, Ding D, Del Pozo Cruz B, Dalene KE, Ayan C, Ekelund U, et al. Joint associations of device-measured physical activity and abdominal obesity with incident cardiovascular disease: a prospective cohort study. Br J Sports Med. 2024;58:196-203.
- [124] SWEDEHEART-SEPHIA. https://www.ucr.uu.se/swedeheart/start-sephia. 2024.
- [125] Olsson SJ, Ekblom O, Andersson E, Borjesson M, Kallings LV. Categorical answer modes provide superior validity to open answers when asking for level of physical activity: A cross-sectional study. Scand J Public Health. 2016;44:70-6.
- [126] Tackney MS, Cook DG, Stahl D, Ismail K, Williamson E, Carpenter J. A framework for handling missing accelerometer outcome data in trials. Trials. 2021;22:379.
- [127] Prince SA, Reed JL, Mark AE, Blanchard CM, Grace SL, Reid RD. A Comparison of Accelerometer Cut-Points among Individuals with Coronary Artery Disease. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0137759.
- [128] Fridolfsson J, Arvidsson D, Ekblom-Bak E, Ekblom O, Bergstrom G, Borjesson M. Accelerometer-measured absolute versus relative physical activity intensity: crosssectional associations with cardiometabolic health in midlife. BMC Public Health. 2023;23:2322.
- [129] Bargholtz M, Brosved M, Heimburg K, Hellmark M, Leosdottir M, Hagstromer M, et al. Test-Retest Reliability, Agreement and Criterion Validity of Three Questionnaires for the Assessment of Physical Activity and Sedentary Time in Patients with Myocardial Infarction. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20.

- [130] Kirkwood B. Essential Medical Statistics. Second ed: Blackwell Science; 2003.
- [131] Altman DG, Royston P. The cost of dichotomising continuous variables. BMJ. 2006;332:1080.

# Aspects of physical function and activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors



Katarina Heimburg graduated as a physiotherapist 1999 and she completed her Master of Medical Science major physiotherapy 2015. She became certified specialist in physiotherapy in respiratory therapy 2015 and in cardiovascular therapy 2022. Katarina is working at the cardiac rehabilitation centre at the Skane University Hospital in Lund. Her research at the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University has focused on aspects of physical function and

physical activity in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest survivors. This book is her doctoral thesis from the Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University.





Division of Neurology Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:66 ISBN 978-91-8021-560-2 ISSN 1652-8220

